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5 YEARS’ FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA 
	 	 2015 *	 2014 *	 2013	 2012	 2011
Financial and operating data, DKKm

Administration fee income	 1,440	 1,411	 1,403	 1,261	 1,064
Other core income, net	 87	 71	 70	 111	 176
Interest expenses, subordinated debt	 (4)	 (45)	 (310)	 (448)	 (465)
Interest expenses, senior debt (SBB)	 (66)	 (95)	 (83)	 (5)	 0
Fee and commission income, net	 (218)	 (172)	 (221)	 (190)	 (298)

Core income (mortgage credit income)	 1,239	 1,169	 860	 729	 477

Staff costs and administrative expenses, etc.	 (225)	 (214)	 (209)	 (205)	 (194)
Provision for  loan and receivable impairment, etc.	 (94)	 (191)	 (113)	 (87)	 (141)

Results from core activities (mortgage credit earnings)	 921	 765	 538	 438	 142

Portfolio earnings (securities)	 (45)	 168	 92	 165	 227

Profit before tax	 875	 933	 629	 602	 369

Profit after tax	 670	 703	 471	 451	 275

Balance Sheet at 31 December 

Assets
Loans and advances	 133,038	 133,219	 133,910	 135,631	 133,211
Bonds and shares	 12,033	 9,234	 8,874	 5,356	 7,669
Other assets	 3,371	 15,184	 4,110	 7,900	 14,066

Total assets	 148,442	 157,637	 146,894	 148,887	 154,946

Liabilities and equity
Issued bonds	 134,342	 141,324	 131,438	 128,423	 129,949
Other debt and payables	 1,596	 3,638	 2,395	 6,241	 11,789
Subordinated debt	 0	 755	 3,078	 5,254	 5,623
Equity	 12,503	 11,919	 9,984	 8,969	 7,586

Total liabilities and equity	 148,442	 157,637	 146,894	 148,887	 154,946

Financial Ratios **	 	 	 	 	     

Return on equity (ROE)
Profit before tax in pc of equity 	 7.2	 8.5	 6.6	 7.3	 5.0
Profit after tax in pc of equity	 5.5	 6.4	 5.0	 5.4	 3.7
Return on hybrid core capital (CRR-compliant)	 8.6	 8.9			 
Return on hybrid core capital excl.  
Hybrid core capital (CRR-compliant)	 5.1	 5.7	 5.0	 5.4	 3.7

Return on Capital Employed
Return on capital employed	 0.5	 0.4	 0.3	 0.3	 0.2

Costs
Costs in pc of loan portfolio	 0.16	 0.16	 0.16	 0.15	 0.15
Income/cost ratio	 3.75	 3.30	 2.96	 3.07	 2.10
Income/cost ratio, excl. write-downs	 5.31	 6.24	 4.56	 4.37	 3.63

Solvency (incl. results for the period)
Capital ratio	 12.9	 12.3	 12.3	 13.2	 12.2
Actual core capital ratio (CET1%)	 11.5	 10.4	 9.8	 8.7	 7.4

Losses and Arrears
Arrears, year-end (DKKm)	 122	 142	 125	 165	 143
Loss and impairment ratio for the period (in pc of loan portfolio)	0.07	 0.14	 0.08	 0.06	 0.11
Accumulated loss and impairment ratio (in pc of loan portfolio)	 0.44	 0.40	 0.28	 0.25	 0.26

Lending Activity
Growth in loan portfolio, pc (nominel)	 0.6	 (0.9)	 (0.9)	 2.3	 1.1
New loans, gross (DKKm)	 23,469	 33,181	 11,340	 20,176	 12,836
Number of new loans	 8,585	 9,638	 4,887	 7,944	 4,887
Loan/equity ratio	 10.6	 11.2	 13.4	 15.1	 17.6

Margins

Percentage of average loan portfolio (nominal):
Profit before tax	 0.67	 0.71	 0.47	 0.44	 0.28
Administrative margin	 1.09	 1.07	 1.05	 0.93	 0.80

Percentage of core capital after deductions: 
Foreign exchange position as a percentage of core capital  
after deductions	 9.1	 4.0	 3.1	 2.4	 12.0

*)   �A change has been made to DLR’s accounting policies in respect of the classification of interest expenses relating to hybrid core 
capital. Comparative figures for 2014 have been adjusted. Please refer to note 1 “Accounting Policies” for details.

**) The financial ratios have been calculated on the basis of the definitions by the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority definitioner.
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Summary
4 �In 2015, DLR Kredit achieved a profit before 

tax of DKK 875m against DKK 933m the year 
before

4 �The profit before tax levels with the amount ex-
pected for the year

4 �In 2015, DLR repaid hybrid core capital of EUR 
100m

4 �At the end of 2015, the capital ratio amounted 
to 12.9

4 �Losses and provisions for impairment impacted 
operations by a negative DKK 94m before loss 
offsetting against a negative DKK 191m in 2014

4 �The outlook for the 2016 results before portfolio 
earnings and provisions for loans and receivable 
impairment are expected to be slightly below the 
2015-level

Annual Results
In 2015, DLR achieved a satisfactory profit before 
tax of DKK 875m, which is DKK 58m lower than 
for 2014 and level with the forecast. Profit after tax 
came to DKK 670m for 2015.

DLR’s earnings primarily stem from:
4 �Core earnings: The return on mortgage credit ac-

tivity in the form of administration fee, other fee 
and commission income, etc. less the related ad-
ministrative expenses as well as losses and pro-
visions for impairment

4 �Portfolio earnings: The return on the securities 
portfolio.

Core earnings
In 2015, administration fee income came to DKK 
1,440m, which is virtually unchanged compared to 
2014.

Interest expenses for subordinated debt relate to 
expenses concerning DLR’s capital issues. In the 
years 2011-2013, total expenses for such capital is-
sues were recognised in the profit and loss account. 
For 2014 and 2015, a change has been made to 
the accounting policies concerning expenses for 
capital issues that meet the requirements of the 
CRR regulation for hybrid capital instruments (in-
definite maturity and a voluntary code of conduct 
regarding payments to owners of hybrid core cap-
ital). This change entails that payments to owners 
of hybrid core capital cannot be expensed in the 
profit and loss account, but must instead be includ-
ed in the allocation of the statement of comprehen-
sive income. See note 1 to the financial statements 
for further information.

Consequently, interest expenses for subordinated 
debt in 2014 and 2015 only concern expenses for 
capital issues that did not meet the requirements 
of the CRR regulation to hybrid core capital instru-
ments. The expense amounted to DKK 4m in 2015 
against DKK 45m in 2014. The decrease is pri-
marily due to the repayment of the remaining gov-
ernment hybrid core capital in 2014. Furthermore, 
EUR 100m hybrid core capital was repaid in 2015.

Interest expenses for Senior Secured Bonds (SSB) 
amounted to DKK 66m, which is DKK 29m lower 
than in 2014. The lower expenses are due to the 
falling interest rate level as well as to the net run-
off of SSBs in 2015. Issuance of this type of debt 
is applied to meet the need for additional security 
(the SDO requirement) as well as to meet the re-
quirements for overcapitalisation to secure DLR’s 
bond rating.

Fee and commission income concern income from 
fees and brokerage in connection with payment 
and repayment of mortgage credit loans as well as 

Financial Review

DKK m 2015

 

Table 1. Profit and Loss Account

2014

Administration fee income	 1,440	 1,411

Other core income, net	      87	      71

Interest expenses, subordinated debt	     (4)	    (45)

Interest expenses, senior debt (SBB)	   (66) 	    (95)

Fee and commission income, net	 (218)	  (172)

Core income	 1,239	 1,169

Staff costs and administrative expenses, etc.	  (225)	  (214)

Provision for loan and receivable impairment, etc.	    (94)	  (191)

Core earnings	    921	    765

Portfolio earnings (securities)	    (45)	    168

Profit before tax	    875	    933

Profit after tax	    670	    703
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trading margins on refinancing. Fee and commis-
sion payments relate to financial institutions that 
have provided loans to DLR. The expenses include 
both loan-provision commission and commission 
for provision of loss guarantees.

Net fee and commission paid constituted expenses 
of DKK 218m against expenses at DKK 172m in 
2014. The principal cause of the change is lower in-
come from trading margins connected to refinanc-
ing. This is a consequence of a decreasing amount 
of loans subject to frequent refinancing, and it is 
consistent with DLR’s wish to reduce the amount of 
the annual refinancing.

Subsequently, core income amounted to DKK 
1,239m, which is DKK 70m less than in 2014. The 
increase constitutes 6.0 pc.

Staff costs and administrative expenses, etc. in-
creased from DKK 214m in 2014 to DKK 225m in 
2015, which is an increase of 5.1 pc. DKK 6m of 
the increase constitutes an expense to the statu-
tory settlement funds. Excluding the expenses to 
the settlement funds, the cost increase amounted 
to 2.3 pc.

For 2015, recognised losses on claims, including 
adjustments from previous years, have been cal-
culated at DKK 35m. Consequently, provisions for 
loan and receivable impairment etc. charge DKK 
94m to the financial statements compared with 
DKK 191m in 2014.

To a great extent, DLR has maintained the collec-
tive provisions from 2014 as a consequence of the 
continued uncertain situation in agriculture. Thus, 
at the end of 2015, DLR made a collective provi-
sion of DKK 145m against DKK 198m at the end 
of 2014. 

At the end of 2015, the total individual impairment 
provisions amount to DKK 445m, to which can be 
added the collective provisions at DKK 145m.

Portfolio earnings
Portfolio earnings amounted to a negative DKK 
45m in 2015 against DKK 168m in 2014. The lower 
return for 2015 should be seen in connection with 
the modestly decreasing interest rate level in 2014, 
whereas in 2015 this level was modestly increasing.

At year-end 2015, DLR’s bond holdings amounted 
to DKK 17bn including prepaid funds.

Allocation of comprehensive income 
for the year
The comprehensive income of the year amounts to 
DKK 670m. Of this, DLR paid DKK 112m to owners 
of hybrid core capital. As this expense is deductible 
DLR’s net cost only amounts to DKK 86m. Overall, 
this implies that DKK 584m is transferred to DLR’s 
shareholders. DLR recommends to the Annual 
General Meeting that like previous years, no divi-
dend be paid for 2015 to the shareholders. 

Balance Sheet
At the end of the year, mortgage loans amounted 
to DKK 133.0bn determined at fair value, which is 
level with end-2014. However, the unchanged lev-
el covers a continued considerable activity where 
gross lending for 2015 amounted to DKK 23.5bn 
(8,585 paid-out loans).

The portfolio of bonds and shares amounted to 
DKK 12.0bn against DKK 9.2bn at the end of 2014. 
The amount of the accounting portfolio of bonds 
depends on whether the portfolio comprises own 
issued bonds that are offset in the item under liabil-
ities of “Issued bonds”, or mortgage bonds issued 
by other mortgage credit institutions.

At the end of 2015, DLR’s balance sheet total came 
to DKK 148.4bn, which is DKK 9.2bn lower than at 
the end of 2014. One of the reasons for the lower 
balance sheet total is a lower extent of refinancing 
at the end of 2015 compared to the end of 2014.
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Capital Base
In 2015, DLR strengthened the capital base by 
DKK 584m, cf. above.

In June 2015, DLR repaid the hybrid core capital of 
EUR 100m raised in 2005. At the end of 2015, DLR 
consequently only had hybrid core capital (Tier 1) 
in the amount of DKK 1,300m that has been recog-
nised in equity.

At year-end 2015, DLR’s capital was solely based 
on core capital and hybrid core capital. In aggre-
gate, the capital base amounted to DKK 12.5bn 
at year-end 2015 against likewise DKK 12.5bn at 
year-end 2014.

DLR’s capital ratio amounts to 12.9 at year-end 
2015. The core capital ratio was also 12.9 at year-
end 2015.

Arrears and Forced Sales
In 2015, DLR charged term payments amounting to 
a total of DKK 5.9bn.

At the end of 2015, the amount of repayments in ar-
rears was DKK 122m against DKK 142m the year 
before. Of the amount of arrears, the vast majority 
relates to term payments that are no more than 3½ 
months old.

The number of implemented forced sales of prop-
erties on which DLR holds a mortgage was 129 in 
2015. DLR took over 42 of these properties. The 
corresponding figures for 2014 were 123 and 44. 
DLR’s portfolio of properties foreclosed was 26 at 
year-end 2015 against 30 at year-end 2014. The 
value of the properties foreclosed amounted to 
DKK 62m at year-end 2015.

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

Q1 14 Q2 14 Q3 14 Q4 14 Q1 15 Q2 15 Q3 15 Q4 15

Figure 1: The development in DLR’s 3.5 months arrears percentages

(pc)

Agriculture properties Office and business properties

Private rental and cooperative housing

Note: Arrears in pc of term payments 105 days after the last due date of payment.

Loans total

2015

Table 2. DLRs capital ratio

2014

Actual core capital ratio	 11.5	 10.4

Core capital ratio	 12.9	 12.3

Capital ratio	 12.9	 12.3

Total risk exposure (DKKbn)	 97	 102
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In 2015, DLR recognised losses on 20 properties, 
which were taken over at forced sales by other 
creditors than DLR, and DLR participated in 46 
loss-incurring, voluntary trades and compositions.

In total, DLR recognised losses on 108 properties 
in 2015 against 95 in 2014.

Events occurred after the reporting 
period
There have been no events after the balance sheet 
date that could change the financial statements re-
sult or balance.

It can be noted that DLR has received approval 
from the Danish FSA of the use of IRB models for 
calculating credit risk in the agricultural portfolio at 
end Q1 2016. The effect of the application is ex-
pected to be an improvement in the capital ratio of 
around 2.5 per cent points.

DLR’s board of directors has decided to buy back 
Financial Stability’s portfolio of DLR shares before 
the end of Q1 2016. The buyback will take place at 
a market value of up to DKK 600m.

The buyback is expected to have a negative effect 
on DLR’s capital ratio of around 0.6 per cent point.

Chief internal auditor Dennis Lundberg has re-
signed in DLR effective from the end of April 2016 
to take up a similar position in another financial in-
stitution.

The process of recruiting a new chief internal audi-
tor has begun.

Outlook 2016
DLR’s business areas primarily comprise loans to 
the agricultural sector and urban trade businesses.

As a consequence of factors such as the trade con-
flict with Russia, sales difficulties in the Chinese 
market and increasing supplies of agricultural prod-
ucts, agriculture is still affected by low settlement 
prices on several of the most important products. 
In December 2015, the government and a number 
of parties concluded the so-called “Agreement on 
Food and Agriculture Package” that contains sever-
al initiatives to improve the framework conditions of 
the agricultural sector. A final approval of the “pack-
age” in its present form will initially primarily benefit 
arable production, but will in the longer term have 
a positive impact on all branches of production. At 
present, final approval of the “package” is however 
pending. Even if there is a prospect of a slight im-
provement of earnings for the agricultural sector as 
a whole in 2016, in part as a result of the “Food and 
Agriculture Package”, the level is still expected not 
to be satisfactory. For the agricultural sector, DLR 
expects moderate lending activity when disregard-
ing loan conversions. 

Indications show that the growth in the Danish 
economy that at first was concentrated around the 
largest cities, is slowly spreading to other areas of 
the country, which will be beneficial to DLR’s cus-
tomer segments within urban trade businesses. 
Within this customer group, DLR expects a small 
increase of the business volume.

IN 2016, DLR expects core earnings in the area of 
DKK 700-800m and as such slightly below the level 
in 2015. Changes in the interest rate level and the 
resulting amount of the portfolio return may, how-
ever, be of major importance to DLR’s overall per-
formance.
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Capital Requirements
With the CRR and the CRD IV we have within a 
brief period of time witnessed a considerable shift 
in the requirements to financial businesses, includ-
ing the extent and quality of the capital required. 

On this basis, DLR has, cf. below, drawn up a long-
term capital plan aimed at a gradual adjustment of 
the capital base over a number of years with a view 
to meeting the demands that are being phased in 
ending 2019. An example is the phasing-in of capi-
tal buffers to be met with actual core capital. At the 
same time, the new rules have affected DLR’s cal-
culation of the overall risk exposure based on i.a. 
the easing in the capital requirement that has been 
introduced for small and medium-sized enterprises.

Capital Plan
With a view to an anticipated increase in capital re-
quirements due to CRR and CRD IV, DLR’s Board 
in 2012 for the first time decided on a long-term 
capital plan towards 2019, which has since then 
been updated and extended on a current basis. 
The capital plan takes into account the new reg-
ulatory demands in regard to quality as well as 
the size of the required capital base, including the 
gradual phasing-in of the new requirements. In 
addition to the regulatory demands, DLR’s capital 
plan also takes into account the Board’s targets for 
DLR’s capital base, including their wish to see a 
higher ratio of actual core capital. The plan also in-
cludes the factor that DLR must at all times have 
sufficient funds to secure the SDO status (covered 
bonds status) of the issued bonds and their rating 
as well as ensure that demands regarding the debt 
buffer from 2016 etc. are met with.

Based on the capital plan, a long number of initia-
tives have been implemented aimed at adjusting 
the capital base. These initiatives have comprised 
i.a. several share issues as well as issuance of hy-
brid core capital. At the same time, the government 
hybrid core capital of DKK 4.8bn raised by DLR 
in 2009 has been fully repaid. On a current basis, 
DLR has also made several SSB issues aimed at 
holding sufficient funds to post additional security 
to safeguard the SDO status of the issued bonds in 
the event of further property price decreases.

DLR’s initiatives in the capital area are described in 
further detail in the section ”Ownership and Capi-
tal Structure”. DLR expects to be able to meet the 
gradually increasing demands in the capital area.

Liquidity Rules
Another significant element in the CRD IV/CRR 
rules is the introduction of a series of requirements 
in regard to the liquidity of credit institutions. Thus a 
Liquidity Cover Ratio requirement (LCR) has been 
introduced. The LCR means that a credit institu-
tion must hold sufficient high-quality liquid assets 
(HQLA) to continuously to be able to cover the net 
liquidity outflow for a period of 30 days. In addition, 
a Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) requirement 
covering a period of 1 year is expected to be im-
plemented.

The LCR has been gradually phased in from 1 Oc-
tober 2015 and will be fully phased in from 2018. 
However, as a SIFI institution, DLR has been re-
quired to meet a fully phased-in LCR requirement 
from 1 October 2015.

Particularly the demands regarding what liquid as-
sets may be included have been of decisive impor-
tance to the Danish mortgage credit sector. Danish 
mortgage bonds may be included in the LCR liquid-
ity buffer as level 1b assets with a haircut of 7 pc, 
provided that the individual bond series amount to 
more than EUR 500m. If the individual bond series 
amount to more than EUR 250m, the bonds may 
be included as level 2a assets with a 15 pc haircut. 
Mortgage bonds can, however, not amount to more 
than 70 pc of the aggregate liquidity buffer, which 
requires adjustments in liquidity management for 
many financial businesses in Denmark.

In the period leading up to the implementation of 
the LCR demand, DLR has been adjusting its secu-
rities portfolio, i.a. in regard to government bonds, 
in order to increase the share of HQLA. 

A possible regulatory requirement for stable fund-
ing in the form of NSFR is expected to be phased 
in from 2018 at the earliest, and not until after re- 
 

Capital Base
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newed political decision. Still, NSFRs must be re-
ported to the Danish FSA.

In the past two years, DLR has carried out a num-
ber of refinancing campaigns aimed at moving bor-
rowers from F1 and F2 loans to loans with longer 
underlying funding, i.e. ARM-Short loans, F3 and 
F5 loans as well as long-term fixed-rate loans. This 
was done with a view to i.a. the NSFR liquidity 
demands with a 1 year horizon that we expect in 
future as well as to the supervisory diamond limit 
value for the share of loans based on short funding, 
cf. the relevant section.

The implementation of the CRR/CRD IV means 
that, cf. S. 8 (9) in the Danish Executive Order on 
Management and Control of Banks etc., new re-
quirements have been introduced regarding the 
calculation and assessment of liquidity position 
and liquidity risk (ILAAP - Internal Liquidity Adequa-
cy Assessment Process). DLR has therefore since 
2014 on an annual basis prepared a specific report 
on liquidity in the same way as we prepare a capi-
tal adequacy assessment report (ICAAP - Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process). The IL-
AAP is approved by DLR’s Board of Directors be-
fore it is submitted to the Danish FSA. 

DLR’s initiatives in 2015 regarding funding and li-
quidity are described in further detail in the section 
”Funding”.

Recovery and Resolution Plans
The EU crisis management directive, the BRRD 
(Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive), that 
was implemented into Danish legislation as from 
1 June 2015 demands the drawing-up of two new 
reports: An internal recovery plan drawn up by DLR, 
and an external resolution plan drawn up by the 
authorities. 

The purpose of DLR’s recovery plan is to prevent 
that DLR should find itself in such dire straits that 
resolution proceedings would be necessary. The 
recovery plan will help ensure that financial difficul-
ties will meet fast reaction and that the initiatives of 
the recovery plan will be implemented with a view 

to ensuring DLR’s long-term viability. The recovery 
plan contains various stages in DLR’s crisis prepar-
edness as well as indicators for these stages. The 
plan comprises i.e. capital and liquidity initiatives 
that are relevant for internal crisis management.

DLR has taken into account the technical stand-
ards (RTS) and guidelines (GL) of the European 
Banking supervisory authority (EBA) within this 
area.
As a SIFI institution, DLR is required once a year at 
1 October to update and submit a recovery plan to 
the Danish FSA. 

As mentioned, the Danish FSA is required to draw 
up resolution plans for financial businesses, in-
cluding DLR, cf. the Danish Financial Business 
Act. And since DLR is a SIFI institution, the Nation-
albanken must be consulted about the resolution 
plan drawn up regarding DLR. In connection with 
the drawing-up of resolution plans, the Danish FSA 
has issued an executive order stipulating a number 
of information points that all financial businesses 
must upon request submit to the Danish FSA.

Debt Buffer
The implementation of the BRRD meant that mort-
gage credit institutions are exempt from using the 
”bail-in” in connection with resolution/recovery. At 
the same time, the mortgage credit institutions 
were exempted from the demand regarding liabil-
ities suitable for impairment provisions, to which 
financial institutions are subjected. On the other 
hand, the BRRD stipulates that mortgage credit in-
stitutions establish a debt buffer amounting to 2 pc 
of their unweighted lending. 

The demand for the debt buffer will be phased in 
during the period 2016-2020 so that on 15 June 
each year the buffer must amount to not less than 
30, 60, 80, 90 and 100 pc of the demand, respec-
tively. 

Seen in relation to the anticipated development in 
DLR’s lending portfolio in the years 2016-2020, this 
demand will require a debt buffer for DLR of approx. 
DKK 3bn once it has been fully phased-in.
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DLR as a Systemically Important 
Financial Institution in Denmark
Since19 June 2014, DLR has been appointed a 
SIFI institution (Systemically Important Financial 
Institution). In order to become a Danish SIFI insti-
tution, at least one of the below parameters must 
be met with:

4 �The balance sheet of the institution accounts for 
more than 6.5 pc of Denmark’s GDP;

4 �The lending in Denmark by the institution ex-
ceeds 5 pc of Danish banks’ and mortgage credit 
institutions’ lending in Denmark;

4 �The deposits in Denmark of the institution exceed 
5 pc of the aggregate deposits of Danish financial 
institutions in Denmark.

DLR meets the first of the three parameters, as at 
the end of 2014 DLR’s balance sheet amounted to 
8.2 pc of GDP and thus exceeds the stipulated limit 
of 6.5 pc.

Special SIFI Rules
A number of demands follow in the wake of the SIFI 
appointment. Based on DLR’s systemic degree, an 
additional SIFI buffer demand to DLR’s capital of 1 
pc point of the aggregate risk exposure has been 
made. This demand must be met with actual core 
capital and will be gradually phased in by 0.2 pc 
point each year from 2015 and up to 2019 so that 
in 2016 the SIFI demand amounts to 0.4 pc. 

Based on its SIFI status, DLR’s Board has set up 
three new sub-committees under its Board of Di-
rectors. These committees are the Risk Committee, 
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee; members of DLR’s Board of Directors 
serve on all three committees. Like the Audit Com-
mittee, the three new committees will support and 
supplement DLR’s Board of Directors in a number 
of areas.

In addition to the capital requirement as such, there 
are also other demands that SIFI institutions must 
meet; for example SIFI institutions are required as 
early as from Q4 2015 to meet the Liquidity cov-
erage ratio (LCR) 100 pc. Apart from the already 
implemented liquidity requirement, the Danish FSA 
also generally monitors a SIFI more closely.

SIFI
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The Danish FSA has drawn up a supervisory dia-
mond for mortgage credit institutions with five limit 
values for what the Danish FSA basically considers 
mortgage credit activity possessing increased risk, 
cf. below. Institutions exceeding the limit values 
may be given a risk notification or may in more se-
rious cases be ordered to draw up a report or be 
given an improvement notice.

The Five Limit Values
1.	�Growth in lending: The growth in lending to the 

individual customer segments must not exceed 
15 pc per year. The four customer segments are 
private homeowners, rental properties, agricul-
tural properties and other business properties;

2.	�Borrower’s interest rate risk: The share of loans 
where the LTV exceeds 75 pc of the lending limit 
and where the interest rate is fixed for up to two 
years only must not exceed 25 pc. This applies 
only to loans to private homeowners and to rent-
al properties. Loans hedged through interest rate 
swaps and the like are not included;

3.	�Interest-only loans to private borrowers: The 
share of interest-only loans in the LTV band 
above 75 pc of the lending limit cannot exceed 
10 pc of the aggregate volume of loans. All inter-
est-only loans are included in this provision, irre-
spective of their position in the order of priorities.

4.	�Loans with short-term funding: The share of 
loans up for refinancing must per quarter be low-
er than 12.5 pc of the aggregate loan portfolio, 
and on an annual basis lower than 25 pc of the 
loan portfolio;

5.	�Large exposures: The sum of the 20 largest ex-
posures must not exceed the actual core capital 
of the institution in question.

Items 1, 2 and 5 in the Supervisory Diamond come 
into force from 2018, while items 3 and 4 will come 
into force from 2020. 

DLR and the Requirements of the 
Supervisory Diamond
At the end of 2015, DLR meets all stipulated limit 
values, cf. table 3. 

As regards points 2 and 4, the share of loans with 
short funding was reduced significantly in 2015, i.a. 
due to the refinancing campaigns in connection 
with the remortgaging auctions held, just as the 
supervisory diamond is taken into consideration 
in connection with the ongoing lending activities. 
Seen as a whole, the campaigns have led to a shift 
in the loan portfolio towards longer maturities on 
the underlying bonds in recent years. We therefore 
expect DLR to meet all five limit values at the stip-
ulated implementation dates. 

When they published the Supervisory Diamond, 
the Danish FSA published another two initiatives 
comprising a demand for a 5 pc down-payment 
in connection with house purchases as well as a 
liquidity requirement in connection with the mort-
gaging of business properties. These initiatives 
have now also been implemented so that DLR also 
takes them into consideration when granting loans.

DLR 31/12
2015

Table 3. DLR’s compliance with limit values in the 
Supervisory Diamond, end Q4 2015.

Limit values, 
Danish FSA

1. �Growth in lending (Current quarter)		

	 Owner-occupied homes	 -0.8%	 <15%

	 Private rental homes	 1.3%	 <15%

	 Agriculture	 0.6%	 <15%

	 Other business properties	 1.0%	 <15%

2. Borrower’s interest rate risk	 23.4%	 <25%

3. �Interest-only period for loans to  

private borrowers	 5.5%	 <10%

4. Loans with short funding per quarter		

	 1Q 2015	 6.9%	 <12.5%

	 2Q 2015	 0.0%	 <12.5%

	 3Q 2015	 4.6%	 <12.5%

	 4Q 2015	 12.3%	 <12.5%

4. Loans with short funding per year	 23.8%	 <25%

5. Large exposures	 25.5%	 <100%

The Supervisory Diamond
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Redistribution of Shares 
Since the most recent increase in share capital in 
September 2013, DLR’s share capital has amount-
ed to a nominal DKK 569,964,023.

In early March 2015, a redistribution of shares was 
made in compliance with DLR’s shareholder agree-
ment; such redistribution takes place each year 
from 2014 against every third year before 2014. 
The basis for the redistribution is that stakes of 
shares of the loan-providing, shareholding banks 
must correspond to their stakes in the loans grant-
ed in relation to DLR’s aggregate loan portfolio.

The redistribution in March 2015 was based on 
the remaining bond debt at the end of 2014, and 
shares at a nominal value of approx. DKK 8.0m 
were redistributed.

In addition, a number of DLR’s shareholders in De-
cember 2015 bought DLR shares from the Finan-
cial Stability Company at a market value of DKK 
250m. 

Hybrid Core Capital
DLR’s capital base consists of share capital, re-
tained earnings and undistributable reserves as 
well as by hybrid core capital.

DLR has in recent years gradually reduced the 
share of hybrid core capital by continuously re-
paying a government hybrid core capital issue to-
taling DKK 4.8bn raised in 2009. Furthermore, by 
mid-2015, DLR repaid private hybrid core capital 

amounting to EUR 100 m, raised in 2005. So at 
present, DLR has only one issue of hybrid core cap-
ital amounting to DKK 1.3bn. This issue was made 
in 2012, and it meets all demands of the CRR. 

Owners and Ownership Shares
When in May 2001 DLR Kredit was converted into 
a limited liability company, DLR Kredit had 137 
shareholders, of which 133 were financial institu-
tions. The remaining four shareholders were three 
organisations within the agricultural trades and the 
Nationalbanken (the Danish central bank).

At the end of 2015, the number of shareholders was 
70, and the number has been falling particularly in 
recent years. One reason for the fall in the number 
of financial institutions is mergers and acquisitions; 
another reason is that during the financial crisis a 
number of financial institutions have been taken 
over by the government company Financial Stabil-
ity A/S. In recent years, DLR has also issued new 
capital, which has been subscribed by investors 
within and outside the circle of DLR’s loan-provid-
ing banks.

DLR’s shareholders are primarily organised in the 
Association of Local Banks, Savings Banks and 
Cooperative Banks in Denmark and in the Danish 
Regional Bankers’ Association. These two organi-
sations hold 38 pc and 34 pc, respectively, of the 
share capital in DLR. In addition, PRAS A/S, which 
primarily consists of the financial institutions behind 
the two organisations, holds 6.2 pc DLR shares.

Ownership and Capital Structure
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The Agricultural Sector
Generally seen, the financial position of agriculture 
was under pressure in 2015 due to weak settling 
prices for milk and port, which led to dissatisfac-
tory terms of trade. However, it should be pointed 
out that a considerable share of farmers within all 
branches of the agricultural sector has shown pos-
itive results and liquidity, irrespective of the dissat-
isfactory settling prices. 

Part of the background for the weak settling prices 
are the trade restrictions imposed by Russia, Chi-
na’s continued absence as a major importer of milk 
products and the increased supply of agricultural 
products. The relatively low energy prices and the 
continuing low interest rate level together compen-
sate for the decrease in sales prices to some extent. 

Agricultural Earnings Outlook
The outlook for the financial situation of the prima-
ry agricultural sector for 2016 shows that also this 
year farmers may expect financial challenges. Still, 
the outlook is quite uncertain, since there are great 
uncertainties about the price development in the 
world market. E.g. Russia’s and/or China’s possi-
ble return to the market would impact prices signif-
icantly. Furthermore, changes in climate conditions 
could lead to considerable shifts in the supply of 
grain and milk products in the world market. 

With the current price relations we can, as shown in 
figure 2, expect merely slightly moderately increas-
ing results in 2016, but the outlook for 2017 is more 
positive. 

Full-time farms
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Figure 2: The development in operating profit for full-time farms (DKK 1,000)

Source: SEGES, January 2016
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At farm level, the spread in results remains very 
wide. The spread in earnings is seen between and 
within the different sectors. For full-time farms in 
the best third, the forecast from SEGES for 2016 
is thus a figure which is DKK 751,000 higher than 
the average.

DLR notes correspondingly that the most compe-
tent farmers within all production sectors continue 
to deliver good financial results, even in periods 
with poor price relations.

“Food and Agriculture Package”
The outlook referred to above takes into considera-
tion the expected effects of the so called ”Food and 
Agriculture Package” agreed between the Govern-
ment, the Conservative People’s Party, the Danish 
People’s Party and the Liberal Alliance on 21 De-
cember 2015. For individual elements of the aggre-
ment legislation is proposed with a view to achieve 
effect already in 2016. At present, final approval of 
the “package” is however pending. 

The ”Package” contains a series of initiatives in 
these areas:
4 �Sustainability
4 �Increased raw materials foundation
4 �Stronger competitiveness
4 �Developing the food production of the future
4 �Foresighted export efforts.

One of the more concrete initiatives is that the gen-
eral demand for border strips is being abolished 
like the demand for second crops on an addition-
al 60,000 ha. Agreement has also been reached 
to change the soil fertilization legislation so that 
the current reduction in nitrogen norms by 20 pc 
be phased out by 2/3 as quickly as possible in the 
growing season 2015/2016 and by 1/3 in the grow-
ing season 2016/2017.

Also the harmonization requirement for slaughter 
pigs will be reduced from max 1.4 animal units per 
ha to max 1.7 animal unites per ha; going forward, 
environmental approvals of stables will be based 
solely on an assessment of the stables in question 
and not be linked to the land area where it is locat-
ed. 

The ”Package” contains a long list of other initia-
tives as well. 

DLR estimates that seen as a whole, the ”Pack-
age”, if finally approved, will strengthen earnings in 
the agricultural sector. The effect is expected to be 
strongest in the area of arable farming, but earn-
ings for farmers with animal production are also 
expected to be strengthened. This will be the result 
of increased crops for the arable farmers and the 
consequence of changed rules regarding area re-
quirements and environmental approvals in animal 
production. 

On the whole, the ”Package” is believed to improve 
the financial situation for each individual farm, just 
as it will help support property values, and land 
prices in particular.

The Price Development for Farms
DLR is of the opinion that in recent years the mar-
ket for trade in agricultural properties and farmland 
showed better marketability than in the preceding 
years and at largely unchanged or slightly increas-
ing prices. As pointed out above, the ”Food and 
Agriculture Package” is expected to support this 
development. 

It is estimated that the current price level for farm 
land is supported by the long-term expectations of 
prices for vegetable products, even in the event of 
a certain increase in interest rate levels in the years 
to come.

Urban Trade Properties and 
Cooperative Housing Properties
DLR’s lending to urban trade properties comprises 
private rental housing properties, office and busi-
ness properties as well as manufacturing and man-
ual industry properties, collective energy supply 
plants including land-based wind turbines, loans to 
cooperative housing properties and to some extent 
loans to subsidised housing properties.
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The rental situation for urban trade properties in 
2015 on the whole seems to have improved slight-
ly compared to previous years. In the major cities, 
interest in these properties seems to be increas-
ing, and the trend also seems to be positive for the 
more peripherally located properties in these cities.

The continued urbanization and development in the 
demand for homes has, in regard to the market for 
private rental homes, led to the continued devel-
opment where the interest in housing properties in 
the big cities has picked up considerably. This has 
resulted in increasing prices, and we are now be-
ginning to see an early interest in the slightly more 
peripherally located housing properties. 

In 2015 we continued to see wide differences in 
investor interest in office and business properties, 
depending on the location of the properties.

In both 2015 and 2014 we saw increasing prices 
in prime locations in the large cities, whereas the 
price development for the more peripherally locat-
ed properties seemed to remain unchanged or only 
slightly increasing.

The continued low interest level throughout 2015 
and a generally unchanged or slightly improved 
rental situation contributed to the generally satis-
factory operations of urban trade properties.

On the whole, DLR finds that 2015 saw an improve-
ment in terms of both pricing and the rental situa-
tion for private rental homes, office and business 
premises as well as cooperative housing proper-
ties.
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Lending Activity
DLR’s primare lending areas are agricultural and 
urban business properties. DLR’s lending takes 
place almost solely via its shareholding banks. 

In 2014 and 2015, DLR campaigned towards bor-
rowers with a view to reducing the share of loans 
with frequent remortgagings in the loan portfolio 
and thus to reduce the refinancing risk. These cam-
paigns that have been timed with DLR’s refinanc-
ing auctions in the past two years have led to a sig-
nificant increase in gross lending, whereas the total 
loan portfolio has increased relatively modestly.

DLR’s total gross lending in 2015 amounted to 
DKK 23.5bn against DKK 33.2bn in 2014. This fall 
in gross lending relates solely to the agricultural 
area, cf. figure 3, whereas the remaining proper-
ty categories saw unchanged or increasing gross 

lending. The reason behind the significant fall in 
gross lending to agriculture is that particularly farm-
ers refinanced their F1 loans in 2014. Net lending 
in 2015, i.e. gross lending less transfers, prepay-
ments and repayments, was positive by DKK 0.9bn 
against a negative DKK 0.8bn in 2014. The positive 
net lending covers an increase in loans granted to 
agriculture, rental housing properties and office 
and business properties. 

In 2015 loans to agriculture totalled 60 pc of DLR’s 
aggregate gross lending. In 2013 and 2014, this 
share was 58 and 80 pc, respectively, and the fall 
is thus a return to ’normal’ for the agricultural seg-
ment. Of the total gross lending in 2015, 72 pc re-
lated to conversion of loans. In addition, loans in 
connection with change of ownership amounted to 
16 pc, top-up loans 8 pc and investments 4 pc.
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Figure 3: Gross lending distributed on property categories
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For several years, the F1 ARM loan was the most 
demanded loan type among DLR’s borrowers. In 
2014, this trend turned around when DLR’s loan 
type ARM Short gained ground. In 2015, fixed-in-
terest loans made up the bulk of gross lending. 
Thus 40 pc of the aggregate gross lending was paid 
out at a fixed interest, while ARM Short loans ac-
counted for 37 pc and ARM loans for 23 pc.

In 2015, loans with initial interest-only periods ac-
counted for 39 pc which is a decrease compared to 
2014, when the share of these loans accounted for 
49 pc of the lending. 

DLR’s Portfolio
DLR’s loan portfolio measured in terms of out-
standing bond debt was DKK 132.5bn at the end 
of 2015, which is an increase of DKK 09.bn over 
2014. Since the aggregate loan portfolio calculated 
as the outstanding bond debt for the entire Danish 
mortgage credit sector was DKK 2,561bn, DLR’s 
loan portfolio corresponds to 5.2 pc.
If we consider DLR’s primary business areas alone, 
i.e. agriculture, office and business premises, pri-
vate rental housing properties and private cooper-
ative housing properties, the average market share 
is 15.2 p

DLR’s biggest lending area is loans to agricultural 
properties, which amounted to DKK 85.0bn at the 
end of 2015. Here the term agricultural properties 
comprises properties larger than 10 ha, irrespec-
tive of the production volume on the property, as 
well as properties below 10 ha with a considerable 
agricultural production.

Of DLR’s aggregate lending to agricultural proper-
ties of DKK 85.0bn, approx. DKK 4bn is made up 
of loans to specialised production. Specialised pro-
duction primarily covers horticultural properties, fur 
farms, poultry farms and fish farms where the area 
will typically not exceed 10 ha. The remaining share 
of loans to agricultural properties is distributed on 
properties exceeding 10 ha, which primarily com-
prise 1) spare- and part-time properties and land 
values without actual animal production and where 
the financial situation is based on wage earnings, 
2) properties with some agricultural production in 
combination with wage earnings outside the farm 
and 3) actual production farms with considerable 
animal production, where the financial situation is 
based on earnings from the farming operations.

DKKm 2015 Other short-
rate loans

Agriculture properties etc. 85,045 13

8,008 4

Office and business propeties 20,173 7

Rental housing properties 14,107 7

Cooperative housing properties 2,779 9

Other properties 2,394 5

Total 132,506

Fixed-interest
loans

14

35

22

16

37

13

17

ARM 
Short

26

4

10

8

4

21

20

F3/F4

21

18

22

28

11

14

21 11

Table 4. DLR’s loan portfolio

Note: All amounts are calculated at remaining bond debt
     

1)
    

CIBOR and EURIBOR-based loans, including quarantee loans
      

2)
    

Residential farms comprise farms below 10 ha without significant farming activities
   

  

       Loan portfolio end 2015 distributed in pc on loan types

2014

84,543

8,029

19,901

13,807

2,826

2,499

131,604

F1/F2

16

23

22

25

8

12

18

F5

9

16

17

16

31

34

13

Owner-occupied homes incl.
residential farms 2)

1)
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Up until 2013, ARM loans, particularly F1, dominat-
ed DLR’s loan. In the past two years, however, the 
share of ARM loans has plummeted, since at the 
end of 2015 52 pc of DLR’s loan portfolio consist-
ed of ARM loans against 73 pc at the end of 2013. 
Still the trend away from ARM loans was stronger 
in 2014 than in 2015. 

Within the various types of ARM loans, the past 
two years have also seen a significant shift from 
loans with annual refinancing to loans with refi-
nancing every third and to a lesser extent every 
fifth year. Also, the share of the new ARM Short 

loans has gone up significantly at the expense of 
the F1 loans. At the end of 2015, ARM Short loans 
accounted for 20 pc of DLR’s loan portfolio against 
0 pc at the end of 2013. Fixed-interest loans made 
up 17 pc of DLR’s portfolio at end 2015, and other 
short-rate loans and guarantee loans accounted for 
the remaining 11 pc.

In the product area, DLR offers standardised fund-
ing solutions. Then DLR’s partner banks may offer 
to top up the DLR Kredit loans with financial instru-
ments tailored to the needs of the individual bor-
rower.

Fixed rate loans

ARM-Short

ARM-F1/F2

ARM-F3/F4

ARM-F5

Other short-rate-loans

59%

14% 0%12%

8%

7% Fixed rate loans

ARM-Short

ARM-F1/F2

ARM-F3/F4

ARM-F5

Other short-rate-loans

59%

14% 0%12%

8%

7%

Fastforrentede

RT-Kort

F1/F2

F3/F4

F5

Andre kortrentelån

58%

14%
0%13%

8%

7%

Figure 4: DLR’s loan portfolio distributed on loan types

DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2013   DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2014 DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2015

Fastforrentede

RT-Kort

F1/F2

F3/F4

F5

Andre kortrentelån

58%

14%
0%13%

8%

7%

Fig. 4: DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på låntyper

DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2013   DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2014 DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på lånetyper - 2015

28%

15%

14%

12%

11%

20%

18%

17%

20%

11%

13%

21%

Fig. 4 a, b og c. DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på låntyper

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2013   

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2014 

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2015

Fig. 4 a, b og c. DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på låntyper

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2013   

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2014 

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2015

Fig. 4 a, b og c. DLRs udlånsportefølje fordelt på låntyper

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2013   

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2014 

DLR’s loan portfolio
distributed on loan types - 2015



19

Funding and Issuing of Bonds
DLR Kredit grants loans under the specific bal-
ance principle where funding takes place through 
tap issuance of covered bonds (SDOs) listed on 
NASDAQ Copenhagen. Bonds are issued in DKK 
and EUR to fund loans granted in DKK and EUR, 
respectively.

As at 31 December 2015, DLR’s volume of bonds 
in circulation amounted to DKK 133.5bn, excluding 
bonds maturing on 1 January 2016. The bonds are 
issued out of two capital centres with their separate 
reserve funds. Until the end of 2007, DLR would is-
sue mortgage bonds (ROs) from the General Cap-
ital Centre, but since 2008 DLR has solely been 
issuing covered bonds (SDOs) out of Capital Cen-
tre B. DLR’s ROs are ”grandfathered”, and thus all 
DLR bonds live up to the so-called UCITS and CRD 
requirements. The quarterly cover pool reports en-
sure that disclosure obligations under CRR article 
129 (7) are met with, and all DLR’s SDO and RO 
bonds are thus comprised by the low risk-weight of 
10 pc for capital charged investors under the CRR, 
i.a. credit institutions etc.

The distribution of bonds on type and currency at 
31 December 2015 (excluding bonds maturing on 
1 January 2016, but including pre-issued bonds in 
connection with the refinancing of ARM loans at 1 
January 2016) is shown in table 5:

Since H2 2014, DLR’s funding structure has 
changed quite significantly, since the share of 
DLR’s lending granted as ARM loans with frequent 
refinancing (F1) was reduced considerably. This 
was the consequence of the refinancing campaigns 
aimed at borrowers with F1 and F2 loans that DLR 

has been running since August 2014 with the aim 
of encouraging borrowers to remortgage into loans 
with longer funding in order to limit refinancing risk.

The background for our wish to reduce the extent of 
the shortest ARM loans was firstly DLR’s rating and 
secondly the supervisory diamond for mortgage 
credit institutions that i.a. limits the share of loans 
that can be refinanced on a quarterly basis.

The ARM loans and in particular the F1 loans used 
to be extremely popular among DLR’s borrowers. 
But since 2014, many of DLR’s borrowers have 
chosen to change profile to ARM loans with longer 
ARM periods, to variable-interest ARM Short loans, 
or to fixed-interest loans, just as new borrowers are 
moving away from the shortest ARM loans. 

Thus F1 loans, which made up 57 pc of the loan 
portfolio at the end of 2013, had been reduced to 
17 pc at the end of 2015, while the share of F3-F5 
loans had gone up from 15 to 34 pc. The CITA/
CIBOR-based ARM Short loans introduced in De-
cember 2013 have in merely two years grown to 
make up 20 pc of the loan portfolio. Long, fixed-in-
terest loans have increased moderately from 14 to 
17 pc of the loan portfolio and accounted for 40 pc 
of gross lending in 2015.

A large portion of DLR’s F1 loans in EUR have 
since 2014 been remortgaged to either ARM Short 
loans or DKK F3-F5 loans, since at the moment 
DLR does not offer loans in EUR. The share of 
EUR bonds has thus been more than halved i.e. 
from 27 pc in early 2014 to 13 pc at the beginning 
of 2016.

Figure 5 below shows DLR’s biggest bond series 
at the beginning of February 2016. The campaigns 
of recent years aimed at the ultra-short ARM loans 
have led to increasing issues in longer maturities 
and to a significantly reduced issuance of 1-year 
bonds. Therefore the CIBOR-based ARM Short 
bonds and the 3-year ARM bonds now count 
among DLR’s largest bond series.

DKKbn Total DKK
bonds

EUR
bonds

In circulation, total 133.5 115.8 17.8

Of which SDO’s 118.7 110.1 8.7

Of which RO’s 14.8 5.7 9.1

Table 5. Bonds distributed on type and currency per
31 December 2015

Funding
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In view of the LCR requirements of the liquidity cov-
er of mortgage credit institutions, which came into 
force on 1 October 2015, DLR as a small issuer 
must focus on ensuring a funding structure based 
on few bond series as a prerequisite for meeting 
the bond size demand of EUR 500m for level 1b 
assets and EUR 250m for level 2a assets to the 
widest possible extent. By early January 2016, 53 
pc of DLR’s bonds measured in terms of volume in 
circulation met the level 1b demand of bond size 
(the blue columns in figure 5), and another 17 pc 
met the level 2a demand (the beige columns in fig-
ure 5). At present it is, however, just a small part 
of these series that is being used to fund lending 
activities. 

Since 1 January 2015, the amendment concerning 
refinancing risk, which was first introduced for F1 
loans on 1 April 2014, has come into force for all 
other bonds with maturities shorter than the under-
lying loan, including the floating-rate bonds under-
lying DLR’s ARM-Short loans.

Against this backdrop, DLR has opened new bond 
series to finance ARM loans issued after 1 Janu-
ary 2015 and to refinance existing loans. Bonds 
with a maturity of up to two years are comprised 
by the statutory extension of maturity, both in the 
event of a lack of investors (sales trigger) and an 
interest-rate increase by more than 5 pp (interest 
trigger); these bonds have the designation “IT” (“In-
terest Trigger”). Bonds with maturities over two 
years are solely affected by the sales trigger and 
therefore have the designation ”RF” (”Refinancing 
Failed”). 

In November 2014, DLR opened a new CIBOR- 
based bond maturing 1 July 2019 to fund ARM 
Short loans offered after that date. In 2015, the CI-
BOR 2019 series was the preferred bond underly-
ing ARM Short loans, and it now has level 1b status. 
DLR in addition offers ARM Short loans funded in 
the CITA-based bond maturing 1 July 2018, which 
is expected to reach an issue level exceeding the 
minimum requirement of EUR 500m so that it also 
lives up to the level 1b criterion. In December 2015, 
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DLR re-opened the CIBOR-based bond maturing 
1 July 2016 in order to increase the series volume, 
and in early 2016 also this bond reached level 1b 
status.

Since the bonds underlying the ARM Short loans 
have a maturity of over two years when they open, 
they are not comprised by an interest trigger but 
solely by the statutory maturity extension in the 
event of a lack of investors at the time of refinanc-
ing. Yet, according to the loan terms, refinancing 
of ARM Short loans may take place in bonds with 
maturities between 1 and 10 years determined by 
DLR based on the market conditions at the time of 
refinancing. DLR expects to fund new loans with 
the same ARM Short series that are used for re-
financing in order to support liquidity in the series.

Refinancing of ARM Loans
All new ARM loans paid out since 2010 are refi-
nanced at 1 April or 1 October (EUR loans at 1 
April). However, DLR will continue to issue non-call-
able bullet bonds maturing on 1 January for the re-
financing of ARM loans at 1 January.

In 2015, DLR held auctions in March, in September 
and November/December in connection with the 
refinancing of ARM loans 1 April 2015, 1 October 
2015 and 1 January 2016.

At the March auction, DLR sold DKK bonds at a 
nominal DKK 6,890m and EUR bonds at a nominal 
EUR 250m. 1-year bonds made up 58 pc of the 
volume against 96 pc in March 2014. 

At the September auction, DKK bonds at a nomi-
nal 6,040m were sold. The aggregate refinancing 
volume fell by 56 pc compared to September 2014, 
since in September 2014 a large number of F1 bor-
rowers chose to refinance to ARM loans with longer 
interest periods or to other loan types. 

At the November auction, which lasted five auction 
days, DLR offered DKK bonds at a nominal DKK 
10,625m and EUR bonds at a nominal EUR 673m. 
Compared to the year before, this almost halved 
the refinancing volume for the DKK bonds, and the 
fall was 20 pc for the EUR bonds. Like in previous 
years, there is a small group of loans that have their 
interest adjustment in December. At the December 
2015 auction, DKK bonds at a nominal DKK 455m 
and EUR bonds at a nominal EUR 12m were on 
sale. 

The below figures show the volumes of bonds of-
fered at DLRs refinancing auctions in recent years. 
The spread of the refinancing over the year, which 
began in 2010, and the reduced volume of ARM 
loans mean that the refinancing of ARM loans is 
now distributed much more evenly on the three re-
payment periods.
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Reduction in the Number of ISIN 
Codes
In order to meet the LCR criteria, bond series are 
required to have a volume in circulation corre-
sponding to a minimum of EUR 500m to be ”level 
1b”, while series with circulating volumes of a min-
imum of EUR 250m are ”level 2a” in LCR terms. 
DLR is therefore working determinedly towards re-
ducing the number of ISIN codes for payment and 
refinancing of ARM loans in order to increase the 
volume of the open series. 

Thus as from October 2015 DLR has had only one 
open series in each maturity for F1-F5 bonds for of-
fering and paying out loans with a view to building 
volume in these series. ARM loans with different 
refinancing dates will from mid-2016 to the widest 
possible extent be pooled at one annual refinanc-
ing time, also aimed at increasing volume in the 
various series in connection with refinancing. The 
aim is that series opened by DLR are opened with 
a volume in connection with refinancing that en-
sures fulfilment of ”level 1b” or alternatively ”level 
2a” LCR criteria. 

Senior Secured Bonds 
On 1 October 2015, bonds for DKK 3.0bn issued in 
2012 in compliance with S. 15 of the Danish Mort-
gage-Credit Loans and Mortgage-Credit Bonds 
etc. Act. (Senior Secured Bonds, SSBs) matured. 
These SSBs were partly replaced by a new 3-year 
SSB issue of DKK 1.0bn. Like DLR’s other SSB 
issues, this is a variable-interest issue based on 
3-months CIBOR sold to a broad circle of domestic 
investors. 

Thus at the end of 2015, DLR had SSBs outstand-
ing at a nominal DKK 4.0bn used to provide addi-
tional collateral for the covered bonds issued out 
of Capital Centre B or and to meet the demand for 
overcapitalisation to secure DLR’s bond rating.

On 1 October 2016, SSB’s worth a nominal DKK 
2bn will mature. DLR is continuously considering 
the need for funding security, including the need to 

refinance SSBs upon maturity. The introduction of 
a debt buffer for mortgage credit institutions of 2 pc 
of their unweighted lending, which will be gradually 
phased in from 15 June 2016 (30 pc) to 2020 (100 
pc) could mean that DLR decides to start issuing a 
new type of loss-absorbing senior debt in 2016 that 
would meet the demands of the debt buffer. 

Rating
DLR’s bonds have been given the following ratings 
by Standard & Poor’s (S&P):

DLR was rated by S&P for the first time in May 
2012. Here DLR Kredit’s issuer rating was set at 
BBB+ (”Long-Term Credit Rating”) with a stable 
outlook.

DLR’s covered bonds (SDO’s) and mortgage bonds 
(RO’s) hold the highest rating, AAA.

As per 30 April 2015, S&P introduced new criteria 
for the rating of commercial loans (Commercial 
Real Estate, ”CRE”) underlying the covered bonds. 
S&P have thus chosen to upgrade the likelihood of 
loss (PD) and in particular the anticipated extent of 
loss (LGD) on CRE lending, which stepped up the 
OC demands for DLR’s capital centres required to 
maintain the AAA rating.

Upon transition to the new CRE criteria, DLR’s 
General Capital Centre was put on ”under crite-
ria observation”, as S&P anticipated that the in-

Bond rating Standard & Poor’s

Captial Centre B AAA

General capital centre (RO) AAA

Capital Centre B (SSB)
(DKK 1bn issued Dec. 2012)

Other ratings

Issuer (Long-Term Credit Rating) BBB+ (stable)

Issuer (Short-Term Credit Rating) A-2 (stable)

Table 6. DLR’s ratings

A (stable)
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creased OC requirements could exceed the actual 
over-collateral in the capital centre. Upon comple-
tion of their analysis, S&P in November 2015 con-
firmed the AAA rating of the General Capital Centre 
under observation of an OC requirement of 9.68 
pc against 4.57 pc ahead of the change in criteria. 
The OC demand is met for the nominal bond vol-
ume in the capital centre and is covered by excess 
capital in the capital centres. The cover is provided 
through own funds and funds provided through the 
issuance of senior debt. At the end of Q3 2013, the 
actual over-collateral in the General Capital Centre 
was 10.0 pc. 

In regard to DLR’s issuer rating, S&P in July 2015 
upgraded DLR’s ”risk position” by one notch to 
”adequate” from ”moderate”, which led to a corre-
sponding upgrade of DLR’s ”stand-alone credit pro-
file” (SACP) of one notch from BBB to BBB+. S&P 
justified the improved risk position arguing that 
DLR’s strong guarantee and loss-offset concepts 
and the current earnings and loss history offset an 
increased risk on agricultural loans. At the same 
time, S&P abolished the then rating lift of one notch 
resulting from expectations of government subsi-
dies, as they referred to their estimation that the 
Danish implementation of the BRRD had rendered 
government subsidies to Danish credit institutions 
less likely. 

DLR’s issuer rating, which was put on negative 
”Credit Watch” in May 2015 due to the expected 
abolishing of the government subsidy element, 
was maintained at BBB+ with a stable outlook due 
to the SACP upgrading. 

In December 2015, DLR’s Senior Secured Bonds 
from 2012, which originally had a rating of BBB+ 
with stable outlook corresponding to DLR’s issuer 
rating, had their rating upgraded by two notches 
to A with a stable outlook. The increase in rating is 
due to the fact that S&P have changed their view of 
the status of the SSBs in the event of suspension of 
payments and do not expect the SSBs to be affect-
ed by payment delays. The SSB issues from May 
2013 and September 2015 are not rated.

Covered Bond Label
DLR’s covered bonds (SDOs) meet the criteria 
of the ”Covered Bond Label Convention” and are 
comprised by the Covered Bond Label, which was 
created by the EMF/ECBC in 2012 and came into 
force on 1 January 2013. In this connection, DLR 
discloses data for its capital position and loan port-
folio at cover pool level (Capital Centre B) under 
the criteria of the Danish Transparency Template.

Cover pool data for both capital centres are availa-
ble from DLR Kredit’s website www.dlr.dk/investor 
and are updated on a quarterly basis.

As from 1 January 2015, a number of changes were 
introduced to the Covered Bond Label Convention 
to further improve transparency and harmonization 
of covered bonds. One of the changes is the explic-
it reference to CRR Article 129 (7), which requires 
covered bond investors to be able to document that 
they have access to certain bond and cover pool 
information from the issuer, just as the information 
regarding fulfilment of the liquidity requirements of 
covered bonds (LCR) are included. From Q1 2015, 
the Danish Transparency Template has therefore 
been changed to take these improvements into ac-
count.

As from 1 January 2016, a new reporting standard 
will come into force for all ”labelled” covered bond 
issuers. This harmonizes information across cov-
ered bond jurisdictions against the national level 
that has been required so far. In 2016 there will be 
a transition period during which national standards 
may still be used. But from 1 January 2017 is be-
comes mandatory for ”labelled” issuers to use the 
new standard. Danish covered bond issuers, in-
cluding DLR, expect to report according to the new 
standards as from Q1 2016.
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Risk Management Procedures
DLR’s business model is based on traditional mort-
gage credit activities in the form of the traditional 
granting of loans against a mortgage on real prop-
erty, funded through the issuance of bonds. As a 
mortgage credit institution, DLR is subjected to 
finely meshed financial regulation covering all sig-
nificant aspects of DLR’s activities. Based on the 
regulation of mortgage credit institutions, including 
the balance principle, DLR is primarily exposed to 
credit risk. The balance principle lays down limits 
to liquidity, option, interest rate and exchange-rate 
risk. 

In connection with the credit granting, all borrow-
ers are subjected to an internal credit assessment, 
just as Danish legislation stipulates valuation rules 
and the overall lending limits. In many cases, a loss 
guarantee is arranged, just as DLR may offset loss 
in commissions per agreement with the banks that 
hold shares in DLR. These procedures generally 
ensure a good credit quality for the loans granted, 
just as continued attention to the determination 
of administration fee sizes means balanced earn-
ings in proportion to credit risk. The issued mort-
gage credit loans remain on DLR’s balance sheet 
throughout their maturities.

The overall responsibility for limiting and monitor-
ing DLR’s risk lies with the Board of Directors who 
have therefore determined the general policies, 
guidelines and frameworks for the risk that DLR 
may assume. On this basis, the responsibility has 
been delegated to the organisation.

Procedures and work descriptions have been 
drawn up for the individual departments, which 
are approved by the Executive Board of DLR. The 
purpose of the procedures and work descriptions 
is to make sure that DLR will at all times have writ-
ten procedures and work descriptions covering all 
its significant areas of business. The procedures 
and work descriptions must at all times describe 
the distribution of responsibility for the work pro-
cedures, and the business procedures and work 
descriptions will be updated on an on-going basis, 
however at least once per year.

The Board of Directors is kept informed about and 
will treat the overall assessment of the risk situa-
tion at meetings of the Board as well as on an ad 
hoc basis, when the situation calls for it. The Exec-
utive Board is being kept informed about the risk 
profile of DLR and is also involved in the on-going 
monitoring and management of risk within the in-
dividual risk areas when the matter at hand is of a 
more general and principal nature.

The Board of Directors has established an internal 
audit function with reference to the Board of Di-
rectors who will – in compliance with an audit plan 
approved by the Board – make random samples 
aimed at auditing procedures, manuals and inter-
nal control procedures in significant and potentially 
risky areas. In addition, the Board of Directors has 
set up an Audit Committee and a Risk Committee; 
cf. the section of committees set up by the Board of 
Directors of DLR. 

Independent Risk Manager, Control and Compli-
ance 
In compliance with the Danish Executive Order on 
Management and Control of Banks etc. (The S.71 
Order), DLR has set up an independent risk moni-
toring function and has appointed an independent 
risk manager with direct reference to the Execu-
tive Board. The risk manager is responsible for the 
proper managing of risk in DLR, including for hav-
ing an overview of the risk situation as a whole. In 
addition, an independent control unit has been set 
up which makes random samplings on a current 
basis of all relevant, risk-related business areas. 

Furthermore, DLR has set up an independent 
compliance function with direct reference to the 
Executive Board. The compliance manager is re-
sponsible for assessing, controlling and reporting 
whether DLR acts in compliance with the relevant 
legislation and with internal guidelines, instructions 
and procedures.

These three functions have been set up in regard to 
DLR’s size and organisation. The independent risk 
and compliance manager reports to the Executive 
Board on a quarterly basis and to the Board of Di-
rectors at least on an annual basis. 

Risk Management
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Whistle-blower Scheme
As part of our good corporate governance practic-
es and in compliance with S. 71a (1) of the Danish 
Financial Business Act, DLR has set up an internal 
whistle-blower scheme that allows all DLR employ-
ees to report via a special, independent channel 
infringements or potential infringements of financial 
regulations committed by DLR, including DLR’s 
staff or Board.

Reports and questions received through the whis-
tle-blower scheme are submitted to the compliance 
function and are treated confidentially.

Credit Risk – Credit Score Models 
On the organisational level, the monitoring and 
control of credit risk is handled by DLR’s credit de-
partment. At portfolio level, the monitoring, control 
and reporting of credit risk and of weak and default-
ing commitments will be handled by DLR’s Exec-
utive Board Secretariat, by the Legal Department 
and the Risk Management Department.

Apart from the monitoring of credit risk, the risk 
management department oversees the develop-
ment and implementation of DLR’s credit score 
models used as a supplement to the assessment 
of credit and mortgage risk in both the continuous 
monitoring process, including the OIE (identifica-
tion of objective evidence impairment) and in the 
granting of new loans.

Since 2006, the credit score models have been cov-
ering DLR’s agricultural portfolio, whereas models 
have yet to be developed for the urban trade portfo-
lio. The models are used to estimate the probability 
of borrower defaults (PD) and possible default-re-
lated losses (LGD), respectively.

The PD models are based on a statistical model 
supplemented by expert-based elements. The sta-
tistical model estimates PD based on a series of 
relevant key figures from the financial statements 
of the borrower as well as the borrower’s payment 
history and other characteristics in his loan-related 
performance. The expert-based elements include 
an internal assessment of the borrower’s financial 
position in a prolonged historical perspective as 
well as an internal assessment of how the current 
and future financial trends are likely to affect the 
borrower. Each PD is converted to a rating class 
between 1-8, where 1 is best. Exposures with OIE 
are placed in rating class 7, whereas exposures in 
default are placed in rating class 8.

The LGD model is founded on the value of the 
mortgage after ‘haircut’ and a calculation that takes 
into account the size of the loan, its position in the 
order of priorities and additional costs. Historical-
ly seen, mortgages on real property have offered 
good protection from loss, and so LGD levels are 
typically low. 

Data from the 1990s are used. 

The models are not yet being used in the calcula-
tion of credit risk exposure in connection with sol-
vency calculations.
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Solvency Requirement 
DLR calculates the adequate capital base and 
solvency requirement (ICAAP) based on the cred-
it reservation method (the 8+ method). Based on 
the calculated 8 pc requirement of the total risk ex-
posure, it is estimated whether in each individual 
business area or in organisational and other terms, 
DLR might have material super-normal risks for 
which an addition is required to be made to the ad-
equate capital base. At the assessment, all factors 
referred to in Annex 1 (items 48-101) in the Execu-
tive Order No. 295 of 27 March 2014 on Calculation 
of Risk Exposures, Own Funds and Solvency Need 
as further described in the Danish FSA’s Guide-
lines on Capital Base Determination for Credit In-
stitutions are reviewed.

DLR has a simple business model based on activ-
ity within the classic mortgage credit business to 
certain property categories. Credit risk linked to the 
borrowers’ ability to repay the loan is therefore the 
main risk factor, and so the adequate capital base 
linked to the credit risk also accounts for by far the 
largest part of DLR’s aggregate adequate capital 
base.

The Executive Board is – via the Executive Board 
Secretariat - in charge of the internal processes 
determining the adequate capital base and the sol-
vency requirement. In the process of determining 
DLR’s adequate capital base and solvency require-
ment, all relevant departments are also involved. 
This applies to both initial and subsequent discus-
sions of the degree of stress tests, etc. of the differ-
ent business areas.

At the same time, DLR constantly monitors the de-
velopment in a number of relevant risk parameters 
with a view to ensuring that the calculated solvency 
requirement and the sufficient capital base reflect 
DLR’s current risk profile. If this is not the case, it is 
considered whether an updating of the calculated 
solvency requirement is required. Submissions to 
the Board of Directors take place at the quarterly 
meetings prior to the publication of the financial re-

ports, and once a year the Board of Directors will 
review the overall methodology used in the calcu-
lation of the adequate capital base and solvency 
requirement. DLR’s risk committee will handle 
the calculation of the adequate capital base and 
the solvency requirement before it is presented to 
DLR’s Board of Directors.

Large Exposures
Large exposures are exposures that account for 
not less than 10 pc of the capital base.

At the end of 2015, DLR had no exposures that 
(less deductions) accounted for more than 10 pc of 
the capital base.

Supplementary Security
DLR’s issuance of bonds as the foundation for its 
lending activities is solely based on the issuance of 
covered bonds (SDOs), which are all issued out of 
Capital Centre B. The SDOs are characterised by 
requiring particularly secure assets as the basis for 
the issuance of the bonds – primarily a mortgage 
on real property.

As regards security behind the issued SDOs, the 
statutory maximum lending limits (the LTV limits) 
must be observed throughout the maturity of the 
loan. This means that for SDOs, the market val-

(DKK 1,000) 2015

Credit risk 7,302,216

Market risk 280,394

Operational risk 179,915

Other risk 0

Internally calculated adequate capital base 7,762,525 8,167,369

Possible additions (special risk) 0 0  

Table 7. DLR’s adequate capital base and solvency 
requirement

2014

7,618,959

395,031

153,379

0

Total 7,762,525 8,167,369

Solvency requirement 8.00 % 8.00 %
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ue of each individual mortgaged property must be 
monitored on a current basis. If LTVs are not met 
– e.g. due to falling property prices – supplementa-
ry security must be provided to the capital centre. 
This security must consist of particularly secure as-
sets – e.g. government bonds, own SDOs or – to 
a certain extent – general claims on financial insti-
tutions in the form of e.g. loss guarantees provided 
by the loan-providing financial institutions.

Supplementary security must be provided at a ratio 
of 1:1. This means that in periods when property 
prices fall, e.g. like in the period following the most 
recent financial crisis, security must be provided to 
a considerable extent. Therefore great focus is put 
on the demand for supplementary security in con-
nection with DLR’s capital planning. 

DLR presently has put up DKK 11.7bn as supple-
mentary security, a fall compared to the end of 
2014 when the figure was just below DKK 13.0bn. 
The fall in supplementary security is distributed 
broadly across the property categories in which 
DLR grants loans. The security primarily consists 
of issued own SDOs and of loss guarantees and 
interim loan guarantees provided by loan-providing 
financial institutions.

At present, DLR has issued Senior Secured Bonds 
(SSBs) at a total of DKK 4bn and most recently in 
September 2015 issued DKK 1bn in SSBs as part 
replacement of a maturing issue. The purpose of 
the issues is i.a. to secure the future demand for 
supplementary security. With the issued SSBs and 
DLR’s capital base in Capital Centre B as well as 
guarantees, etc., DLR will be able to withstand any 
additional general price decreases of up to15 pc on 
agricultural and commercial properties. The issued 
SSBs can also be used to meet OC requirements 
in connection with the rating of the Capital Centres.

Credit Risk
DLR’s loans are granted against a registered mort-
gage on real property subject to the statutory limits 
determining i.a. the security position of the loans 
etc. 

DLR’s Board of Directors has set up guidelines for 
the granting of credit by DLR, including limits to the 
credit authorisation of the Executive Board. Within 
these limits, internal business procedures and in-
structions determine credit policy guidelines and 
upper limits for the credit authorisation for the vari-
ous levels in DLR’s credit organisation. The Board 
of Directors must approve loan commitments in 
DLR in those cases where the total exposure ex-
ceeds an amount determined by the Board of Di-
rectors.

With a view to mapping credit risk, the financial po-
sition of the borrowers is closely examined. First of 
all, this valuation basis includes a determination of 
the market value of the property on which the mort-
gage is to be taken out. The valuation of the loan 
applicant’s property is carried out by DLR’s own 
valuation experts. Secondly, the rating of the bor-
rower’s creditworthiness, including a credit score 
for the borrower, is handled by DLR’s administra-
tive office in Copenhagen. In this way functions are 
separated between property valuation and the as-
sessment of creditworthiness.

DLR’s loss and credit risk has been further reduced 
by means of loan loss guarantees provided by the 
local as well as regional loan-providing banks that 
hold shares in DLR. DLR has for a long time made 
loan loss agreements for lending within the urban 
trade and agricultural areas. For loans offered 
since early 2015, a new overall guarantee concept 
has been established. The said loan loss agree-
ments that cover the vast majority of DLR’s portfo-
lio are reviewed below.

Loan Loss Agreements in Urban Trade Properties 
– Covering Loans Offered until 31 December 2014
For loans to urban trade properties, i.e. private 
rental homes, private cooperative housing prop-
erties, office and business properties as well as 
manufacturing and manual industry properties, the 
banks offer an individual loss guarantee on the 
least secure part of the loan. The guarantee is re-
duced proportionately with repayments on the loan. 
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The loan loss guarantees on trade properties at the 
end of 2015 comprised guarantees totalling DKK 
14.4bn provided for the total urban trade property 
portfolio, which currently amounts to DKK 34.1bn.

Loan Loss Agreements in Agriculture - Covering 
Loans Offered until 31 December 2014
Loans to agricultural properties intermediated by 
shareholding banks were previously also com-
prised by a guarantee scheme set up between DLR 
and the shareholding banks.

This scheme comprised approx. DKK 69bn at the 
end of 2015. The scheme is a collective guarantee 
scheme that comes into force in the event that the 
losses suffered by DLR on agricultural loans pro-
vided by the shareholding banks within a given cal-
endar year exceed a given pre-fixed amount (the 
excess of DLR). DLR’s excess has been fixed as 
1.5 times an unweighted average of the losses for 
the last five years, however at a minimum of 0.25 
pc of the remaining bond debt for loans under the 
cooperation agreement (agricultural loans).

As a maximum, the collective guarantee scheme 
can be applied in respect of five times DLR’s ex-
cess. This means that for 2016, DLR could suffer 
losses up to around DKK 172m, while the maxi-
mum guarantee coverage of banks for 2015 would 
be around DKK 861m. Under the collective guar-
antee scheme, the banks are individually liable for 
losses in proportion to each bank’s share of the ag-
ricultural loans under the cooperation agreement. 

Furthermore, DLR offsets losses in commission 
payments to the banks. Losses inflicted on DLR 
that stem from agricultural loans will be offset in the 
agricultural commissions for the bank in question 
and go to DLR. Losses are offset in commissions in 
respect of the year in which the loss is ascertained 
(excluding provisions). Losses that cannot be fully 
offset in commissions for the year in question are 
carried forward for offsetting in commissions for 
the following four years as a maximum. DLR can 
require that a bank must provide a guarantee for 
cover of losses carried forward.

The guarantee provision may constitute up to 0.25 
pc of the bank’s portfolio that the cooperation 
agreement comprises. If offsetting has not been 
effected in commissions within the following four 
years, the guarantee can be asserted. The offset-
ting basis for 2015 was approx. DKK 188m, an 
amount which exceeded the size of DLR’s “excess” 
mentioned above for the agricultural loans.

DLR’s Guarantee Concept Implemented from 1 
January 2015
In 2014, DLR entered into an agreement DLR’s 
shareholding banks about a new guarantee model 
for DLR’s lending activities. The new model came 
into force in early 2015 so that loans offered by 
DLR from 2015 and onwards are comprised by this 
agreement.

The guarantee is structured in such a way that 
when the loan is paid out, the loan-providing bank 
will post an individual guarantee for the individual 
loan throughout its maturity. The guarantee covers 
6 pc of the remaining debt on the loan. The guaran-
tee is reduced gradually as the loan is reduced with 
a proportionate share of the repayments so that in 
view of the remaining debt on the loan, the guaran-
tee percentage remains unchanged throughout the 
maturity of the loan. The guarantee covers the least 
secure part of the loans on the individual property.

In addition, a loss offset scheme has been set up 
in which the individual bank offsets any loss that 
DLR may incur on loans granted by the bank in 
question beyond the 6 pc guarantees at loan level. 
Losses will be offset in the aggregate commissions 
of the bank in question for the entire loan portfolio, 
except for loan-provision commission and broker-
age refund and may be offset for the following three 
years’ commissions.

To the extent that there are losses to be offset ex-
ceeding the anticipated commissions of the current 
and the two following years, DLR may require such 
losses covered through a drawing on the direct 
guarantees made by the bank in question. Current-
ly, the new guarantee concept covers a remaining 
bond debt of well over DKK 20bn.
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The implementation of DLR’s new guarantee con-
cept has taken into account that the possibility of 
offsetting losses on agricultural loans, cf. the pre-
vious guarantee concept, is being reduced as the 
large remaining bond debt is being reduced as well. 
At the same time, commission payments under the 
new guarantee concept will be limited in the staring 
phase. The possibility of offsetting loss has there-
fore been expanded so that the offsetting of losses 
under the two guarantee concepts is made in the 
aggregate commission payments under the two 
concepts. In 2015, DLR offset losses amounting to 
well over DKK 30m. 

At the end of 2015, 93 pc of DLR’s aggregate loan 
portfolio was comprised by the two guarantee con-
cepts. In addition, a small part of the portfolio of 
around DKK 0.5bn was covered by a government 
guarantee. On the whole, the guarantee schemes 
mean that DLR’s risk of loss on lending can be 
characterized as manageable and relatively limited. 
Usually, most exposures not comprised by guaran-
tees have low LTVs. 

LTV
Calculations of the security position of the loan 
portfolio in the mortgaged properties (LTV) support 
DLR’s limited risk of loss. At the end of 2015, 89 pc 
of the loans granted to agricultural properties was 
thus placed within 60 pc of DLR’s most recent val-
uations, including valuations made in connection 
with the continuous SDO monitoring. Concerning 
loans to the remaining portfolio, primarily urban 
trade properties, 83 pc was placed within 60 pc of 
the valuations without taking into account the guar-
antees provided. Several of these property catego-
ries have an LTV of 80 pc of the property value, 
which is why the share placed below 60 is naturally 
lower.

The constant monitoring of LTV values is a stand-
ard element of DLR’s management reporting. DLR 
furthermore constantly prepares exposure reviews 
on the individual financial institutions with a view to 
assessing and managing DLR’s counterparty risk 
on guarantors, according to the guidelines of the 
Board of Directors.

Interest Rate Risk
The statutory demands for interest rate risk are that 
the risk cannot exceed 8 pc of DLR’s capital base. 
At the end of 2015, DLR’s capital base amounted 
to DKK 12,485m after deductions, and this corre-
sponds to a maximum permitted interest rate risk 
of DKK 999m.

At the end of 2015, interest rate risk on DLR’s se-
curities portfolio (asset side) was DKK 245m. In-
terest rate risk expresses the amount that at the 
end of 2015 DLR could expect to see as price ad-
justments in the event of a change in market yields 
of 1 pc point. The relative interest rate risk can be 
calculated at 2.0 pc based on the capital base at 
the end of 2015.

Interest rate risk on issued securities (liability side) 
– hybrid core capital and Senior Secured Bonds – 
can be calculated at DKK 18m corresponding to 
0.15 pc of DLR’s capital base.

Interest rate risk on issued securities ‘inverts’ in-
terest rate risk on the securities portfolio, and thus 
DLR’s net interest rate risk is reduced to DKK 
227m, corresponding to 1.8 pc of the capital base. 
DLR may take a net perspective on interest rate 
risk since the composition of the portfolio is man-
aged within duration bands so that the liabilities 
side is covered within matching duration bands as 
on the asset side.

Based on a concrete assessment, DLR uses finan-
cial instruments to manage interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk
DLR’s use of the specific balance principle means 
that payments on loans granted and issued bonds 
closely match (match-funding). In connection with 
prepayments of loans (immediate repayments), 
DLR receives some liquidity, which will subse-
quently be invested until the amount is due for pay-
ment to the bondholders as part of extraordinary 
drawings.



30

The liquidity is placed as short forward deposits 
with financial institutions or in short bonds. Like-
wise, prepaid funds arising from the borrower’s 
quarterly repayments on ARM loans will be placed 
with financial institutions or in bonds, and will be 
kept separate from the remaining securities port-
folio.

Foreign Exchange-Rate Risk
Calculated according to the foreign exchange indi-
cator 2 of the Danish FSA, DLR’s foreign exchange 
risk at the end of 2015 was DKK 1.3m, correspond-
ing to 0.01 pc of the capital base. Under Danish 
legislation, the foreign exchange indicator 2 of the 
Danish FSA cannot exceed 0.1 pc of the capital 
base. The reason behind the limited foreign ex-
change risk is that loans paid out in foreign curren-
cies, i.e. solely EUR, will at all times be funded in 
the foreign currency in question, just as but a very 
small part of DLR’s securities portfolio is held in the 
form of EUR bonds.

Risk Related to Shares
In general, DLR does not invest in shares, except 
for sector shares. At the end of 2015, DLR’s share 
portfolio consisted of holdings in VP Securities A/S, 
e-nettet A/S and Landbrugets FinansieringsBank 
A/S. At the end of 2015, the risk related to shares 
amounted to DKK 5.5m.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is attached to the risk of loss re-
sulting from inappropriate or defective internal pro-
cedures, human error and system error or as the 
result of external events, including legal risk.

DLR’s operational risk is considered highly limited. 
This is due to DLR’s unified business model as a 
mortgage credit institution with the corresponding, 
narrow statutory framework, including the fact that 
DLR adheres to the “strict” balance principle in 
combination with its product range of standardised 
mortgage credit products.

DLR continually collects and registers data on all 
operational events with a view to forming an over-
view of such events and preventing any future 
events. In addition, we use insurance to cover all 
relevant risk. At the same time, DLR has a con-
stant focus on maintaining a high level of i.a. staff 
competences, control and security in regard to IT 
systems etc. DLR’s policies and procedures in re-
gard to operational risk and its preparedness plans 
reflect this fact. 

DLR applies the basic indicator method to calcu-
late operational risk. According to this method, 
operational risk amounts to DKK 2,249m of the 
risk-weighted assets. This results in a capital re-
quirement (8 pc) of DKK 180m to cover operational 
risk at the end of 2015.

Committees set up by DLR’s Board of 
Directors
DLR’s Board of Directors has set up four commit-
tees within various areas to supervise or prepare 
subjects and issues for treatment by the Board of 
Directors among other tasks. DLR’s Audit Commit-
tee was established in 2009 while the Risk Com-
mittee, the Nomination Committee and the Remu-
neration Committee were set up in 2014.

Audit Committee
Among the tasks of the Audit Committee is the 
supervision of the financial reporting as well as 
monitoring that DLR’s internal controls and security 
conditions as well as internal audit and risk man-
agement systems function effectively. The Audit 
Committee furthermore monitors that the Executive 
Board reacts effectively to any weaknesses and/or 
defaults and that initiatives agreed in relation to 
the strengthening of risk management and internal 
controls – i.a. in relation to the financial reporting 
process – are implemented as planned.

DLR’s Audit Committee consists of three members, 
of whom the independent member of DLR’s Board 
of Directors and former governor of Danmarks Na-
tionalbank Torben Nielsen holds the post as chair-
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man, while the other members are Managing Di-
rector, CEO Ole Selch Bak and Legal Consultant 
Søren Jensen.

The Audit Committee on a current basis involves 
relevant DLR staff in the committee meetings. 

In 2015, the Audit Committee held four meetings.

Risk Committee
The established Risk Committee contributes to en-
suring that DLR’s Board of Directors has the neces-
sary basis for counteracting, handling, supervising 
and reducing the risks that DLR is or may be ex-
posed to. Therefore the Risk Committee must at all 
times have an overall picture of any risk linked to 
DLR’s activities; this is done i.a. on the basis of a 
thorough analysis of the risk linked to DLR’s busi-
ness model as a mortgage credit institution. In re-
gard to DLR’s risk situation, the Risk Committee i.a. 
reviews and prepares the handling by the Board of 
Directors of DLR’s calculation of the adequate cap-
ital base and the solvency requirement etc. 

The Risk Committee does not change the respon-
sibilities or competences of the Board of Directors. 
It remains the Board of Directors as a whole who 
is responsible for the management of DLR’s risk, 
but the work of the Committee is a vital link in the 
preparatory work. 

The Risk Committee consists of three members: 
Managing Director Lars Møller (chairman), former 
governor of Danmarks Nationalbank Torben Niels-
en as well as Agricultural Account Manager Jakob 
Hald. Furthermore, DLR’s independent Risk Man-
ager participates in the meetings of the Risk Com-
mittee, just as the Committee may involve DLR’s 
other employees. In 2015, five meetings were held 
in the Risk Committee.

Nomination Committee
The task of the Nomination Committee is to ensure 
that within DLR’s Board of Directors the necessary 
level of knowledge and experience exists. In this 
connection, the committee is responsible for nomi-
nating new members for the Board of Directors and 
for ensuring that an evaluation of the competencies 
etc. of the Board members is made. In addition, the 
Board sees to it that diversity is included as an el-
ement in connection with the composition of DLR’s 
Board of Directors.

The chairman of DLR’s Nomination Committee is 
Managing Director Vagn Hansen, CEO and Man-
aging Director, CEO Anders Dam is vice chairman. 
Furthermore, the committee consists of the remain-
ing members of the Board of Directors. 

In 2015, two meetings were held in the Committee.

Remuneration Committee
DLR has set up a Remuneration Committee that 
has been established with a view to direct the 
preparatory work in connection with the Board of 
Directors’ resolutions concerning remuneration in 
DLR Kredit A/S. Also, the committee prepares the 
identification of DLR’s most important risk-takers.

The chairman of DLR’s Remuneration Committee 
is Managing Director, CEO Vagn Hansen; the other 
members of the committee are Managing Director, 
CEO Anders Dam and Legal Consultant Søren 
Jensen. 

Two meetings were held in DLR’s Remuneration 
Committee in 2015.
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Management
DLR Kredit A/S is owned by local and regional 
banks, Nykredit A/S, PRAS A/S, Financial Stabili-
ty A/S, Danmarks Nationalbank etc. The Board of 
Directors consists of 14 members, of whom five 
members have been elected by the employees.

The Board of Directors determines DLR’s busi-
ness model and the overall principles, policies and 
guidelines for DLR’s business activities. The divi-
sion of work between the Board of Directors and 
the Executive Board has been established in the 
Board of Directors’ policies and rules of procedure.

The members of the Board of Directors elected at 
the Annual General Meeting are elected for one 
year at a time and may be re-elected. The em-
ployee- elected members of the Board of Directors 
are elected for four years at a time and may be 
re-elected.

Employees
At the end of 2015, the number of full-time employ-
ees in DLR was 174 against 162 at the end of 2014. 
158 worked at DLR’s administrative offices in Co-
penhagen, while the remaining staff was in charge 
of valuation of urban trade and private cooperative 
housing properties.

Apart from the permanent staff, DLR employed 29 
valuation experts for the valuation of agricultural 
and horticultural properties at the end of 2015.

Knowledge Resources
DLR’s knowledge resources are primarily linked to 
DLR’s employees. Since DLR is in close coopera-
tion with local and regional banks, it is also import-
ant that the employees of these banks at all times 
have an updated knowledge of DLR as an organ-
isation, including the services that DLR provides.

DLR is an organisation where communications and 
operations rely on the use of IT technology. It is 
therefore of decisive importance that DLR’s staff 
constantly maintain and expand their knowledge, 

i.a. via further education, and in this way contrib-
ute to ensuring the earnings base of DLR. DLR is 
a member of the Education Centre of the Danish 
Financial Sector. DLR’s administrative procedures 
are recorded in internal procedures, routines and 
instructions, which are regularly being updated and 
expanded.

In the IT area, this also happens in the form of 
documentation of the IT systems applied. In areas 
where special competencies are required, DLR ac-
quires external knowledge resources.

Distribution Channels
DLR grants mortgage credit loans for the financing 
of commercial properties in the form of both agri-
cultural and urban trade properties. Loans for own-
er-occupied homes are provided solely for residen-
tial farms and for the Faroe Islands and Greenland.

DLR’s strategy is based on close cooperation with 
DLR’s group of owners – the local and regional 
banks – that have a comprehensive, aggregate 
network of branches all over Denmark and distrib-
ute DLR’s loans through this. Consequently, DLR 
functions as a “subsupplier” for the group of own-
ers and provides loans to the property categories in 
question. This is why DLR has chosen not to set up 
its own branches, which also ensures a cost-effec-
tive lending process.

DLR’s electronic communications system – DLRx-
perten – supports the customer advisory services 
of the banks in connection with mortgage loans, in-
cluding refinancing of loans. Loan documents etc. 
are distributed through DLRxperten. 

The system has been developed in cooperation be-
tween DLR and the loan-providing banks. Advisory 
services for customers and the intermediation of 
DLR’s products are to the widest possible extent 
taken care of by the loan-providing banks, just as 
the actual marketing activities of DLR are provided 
by the banks. This means that DLR has no local 
representation apart from the valuation experts.

Organisation
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Internal Control and Risk Management 
Systems in Connection with the Finan-
cial Reporting
The Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and 
the Executive Board have the overall responsibility 
for DLR’s financial reporting process, including that 
current legislation and other regulation in relation 
to the presentation of the financial statements are 
being complied with.

The financial reporting process has been planned 
with a view to minimizing the risk of errors and in-
consistencies in the financial statements.

Control Environment
The Executive Board is continuously evaluating 
DLR’s organisational structure and staffing in sig-
nificant areas, including within areas related to the 
financial reporting process. The Board of Directors, 
the Audit Committee and the Executive Board de-
termine and approve the main policies, procedures 
and controls in main areas in connection with the 
financial reporting process.

The basis for this is a clear organisational structure, 
clear reporting lines, authorization and certification 
procedures as well as separate directorships and 
functions. In compliance with the statutory require-
ments, the Board of Directors has established an in-
ternal audit department with reference to the Board 
of Directors, which in compliance with an audit plan 
approved by the Board of Directors will carry out 
audit sampling of business procedures and inter-
nal control procedures on material and risky areas 
in connection with the financial reporting process. 
Policies and controls have been prepared within all 
material and risky areas including areas of partic-
ular importance to the financial reporting process.

The Accounting and Finance Department is re-
sponsible for the Company’s total financial con-
trol and financial reporting as well as the financial 
statements, and is also responsible for ensuring 
that the financial reporting comply with principles 
laid down and current legislation.

The Accounting and Finance Department has set 
up a formal reporting process, which comprises 
budget reporting and monthly results reporting in-
cluding deviation reports with quarterly updating of 
the budgetary outlook for the year.

Monitoring
On a current basis, the Audit Committee receives 
reports from the Executive Board as well as from 
the internal and external auditors on the obser-
vance of the defined guidelines, procedures and 
compliance with rules.

Corporate Social Responsibility
DLR’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) pol-
icy is available from DLR’s website at http://www.
dlr.dk/csr. 

As a consequence of its activities, DLR finds that 
there is no need to prepare separate policies cov-
ering respect for human rights or concerning miti-
gation of climate effects.

Underrepresented Gender and Diversi-
ty on DLR’s Board of Directors
As mentioned in the section on committees set 
up by DLR’s Board of Directors, DLR has estab-
lished a Nomination Committee. In accordance 
with the Danish Financial Business Act, the Nomi-
nation Committee has laid down target figures for 
the proportion of the underrepresented gender on 
DLR’s Board of Directors and prepared a policy for 
achieving this target figure. Furthermore, a poli-
cy has been determined with a view to increasing 
the proportion of the underrepresented gender at 
DLR’s other managerial levels. A policy for diver-
sity on the Board of Directors has also been deter-
mined.

Target figures for the underrepresented gender on 
DLR’s Board of Directors
Based on the rules for target figures for the un-
derrepresented gender, DLR’s Board of Directors 
at the beginning of 2013 laid down a target for in-
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creasing the proportion of the underrepresented 
gender from 0 pc to a minimum of 10 pc of the board 
members elected at the Annual General Meeting 
within a period of three years. The target was met 
at the Annual General Meeting held in April 2013. 
On this background, the target has subsequently 
been increased so that the proportion of the under-
represented gender should be increased to at least 
20 pc of the board members elected by the Annual 
General Meeting not later than in 2017.

At present, DLR has nine board members elected 
at the Annual General Meeting who are each elect-
ed for a period of one year. Currently, DLR’s board 
members elected at the Annual General Meeting 
consist of eight men and one woman.

Based on the traditional composition of DLR’s 
Board of Directors, this is considered an ambi-
tious goal. This should be seen in relation to the 
traditional composition of board members in DLR 
that consists of executives from local and regional 
banks.

DLR’s Nomination Committee will include the 
above target in the nomination process for future 
board members in DLR.

Policy to include the proportion of the underrepre-
sented gender at DLR’s other managerial levels
DLR’s Nomination Committee and Board of Direc-
tors have also laid down a policy to include the pro-

portion of the underrepresented gender at DLR’s 
other managerial levels. Managerial levels are 
to be understood as leading positions other than 
those on the Board of Directors.

Concretely, DLR wishes to increase the proportion 
of the underrepresented gender at the other man-
agerial levels while duly respecting that at all times 
DLR intends to employ the best qualified and for 
the Company best suited candidate. Furthermore, 
DLR has determined a number of initiatives, both 
internally and in connection with the recruiting pro-
cess, with a view to increasing the proportion of the 
underrepresented gender in the long term.

Diversity in DLR’s Board of Directors
In correlation with the composition of DLR’s Board 
of Directors, the Nomination Committee has adopt-
ed a diversity policy. This policy is aimed at con-
tributing to a broader composition of DLR’s Board 
of Directors. In this connection it has been empha-
sized that the Board of Directors should be broadly 
composed with a view to i.a. professional compe-
tence, business experience, gender and age.

When assessing the qualifications of the Board of 
Directors, DLR’s Nomination Committee has as-
certained that at present adequate diversity exists 
in DLR’s Board of Directors. The considerations 
of diversity are continually included in connection 
with the nomination of future candidates for DLR’s 
Board of Directors.
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DLR’s Board of Directors
At the end of 2015, DLR’s Board of Directors had 
the following members:

Elected by the General Meeting:
4 �Vagn Hansen (chairman), Managing Director  

& CEO, Sparekassen Vendsyssel
4 �Anders Dam (vice chairman),  

Managing Director & CEO, Jyske Bank A/S
4 �Ole Selch Bak, Managing Director & CEO, 

Djurslands Bank A/S
4 �Karen Frøsig, Managing Director & CEO,  

Sydbank A/S
4 �Peter Gæmelke, Farmer
4 �Lars Møller, Managing Director,  

Spar Nord Bank A/S
4 �Torben Nielsen (independent member),  

former governor of Danmarks Nationalbank
4 �Jan Pedersen, Managing Director & CEO,  

Danske Andelskassers Bank A/S
4 �Lars Petersson, Managing Director & CEO, 

Sparekassen Sjælland A/S

Employee Board Members:
4 �Claus Andreasen, Administrative Officer
4 �Jakob G. Hald, Agricultural Account Manager
4 �Søren Jensen, Legal Consultant
4 �Agnete Kjærsgaard, Administrative Officer
4 �Benny Pedersen, Farmer and Valuation Expert

At the end of 2015, DLR’s Board of Directors con-
sisted of 14 members of whom nine members 
have been elected at the Annual General Meeting. 
Of these nine members, four have been elected 
among the members of the Association of Local 
Banks, Savings Banks and Cooperative Banks 
in Denmark, and four among the members of the 
Association of Regional Banks. Furthermore, one 
member has been elected by the two Associations 
jointly.

Torben Nielsen, former governor of the Danmarks 
Nationalbank, is the independent member of DLR’s 
Board of Directors. 

Furthermore, DLR’s employees elected five mem-
bers to the Board of Directors.

At the Annual General Meeting on 23 April 2015 all 
members elected at the Annual General Meeting 
were re-elected.

Audit Committee:
Members of the Audit Committee:
4 �Torben Nielsen, former governor of Danmarks 

Nationalbank (chairman)
4 �Ole Selch Bak, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Søren Jensen, Legal Consultant

Risk Committee:
Members of the Risk Committee:
4 �Lars Møller, Managing Director (chairman)
4 �Torben Nielsen, former governor of  

Danmarks Nationalbank
4 �Jakob G. Hald, Agricultural Account Manager

Nomination Committee:
Members of the Nomination Committee:
4 �Vagn Hansen, Managing Director & CEO  

(chairman)
4 ��Anders Dam, Managing Director & CEO  

(vice chairman)
4 �All other members of DLR’s Board of Directors

Remuneration Committee:
Members of the Remuneration Committee:
4 �Vagn Hansen, Managing Director & CEO  

(chairman)
4 �Anders Dam, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Søren Jensen, Legal Consultant

Executive Board:
4 �Jens Kr. A. Møller, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Michael Jensen, Managing Director

Executive Staff
Executive Board Secretariat,  
Information, Staff, etc.:
Lars Blume-Jensen, Senior Vice President,  
MSc (Economics)

Loan Department:
Bent Bjerrum, Deputy Director, MSc (Agriculture)

Management and Administration
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Legal Department:
Per Englyst, Legal Director, Attorney-at-Law

Accounting and Finance Department:
Lars Ewald Madsen, Accounting and Finance  
Director, M.Sc. (Finance and Accounting)

IT Department:
Chr. Willemoes Sørensen, IT Director, Engineer

Risk Management Department:
Jesper C. Kristensen, Head of Risk Management, 
MSc (Mathematics and Economics)

Internal Audit:
Dennis Lundberg, Chief Internal Auditor, MSc in 
Business Administration, Accounting and Auditing

Supervision:
The Danish Financial Supervisory Authority

Directorships held by the Executive Board:
Jens Kr. A. Møller, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

VP Securities A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of e-nettet a/s

Cooperation Agreements:
(a) Management Agreements
DLR has entered into a management agreement 
with LR Realkredit A/S. DLR processes loan ap-
plications to be decided by the Executive Board 
and the Board of Directors of LR Realkredit. Once 
the loans have been approved, DLR manages the 
loans paid out.

LR Realkredit’s primary lending area is the social 
housing sector, schools, social and cultural insti-
tutions and other educational institutions. LR Re-
alkredit shares office address with DLR.

b) e-nettet
e-nettet is Denmark’s distributor of real proper-
ty data, owned by Danish financial and mortgage 
credit institutions. Therefore, DLR holds shares 
in e-nettet, of which the majority was acquired on 

behalf of the Association of Local Banks, Savings 
Banks and Cooperative Banks in Denmark and the 
Association of Regional Banks.

Shareholder Information	
Share Capital
The share capital in DLR is primarily held by local 
and regional financial institutions.

DLR’s share capital amounts to a nominal DKK 
570.0m (denomination of DKK 1).

At year-end 2015, the share capital is distributed 
on the following main groups of shareholders:
	 Nom. DKK.

4 �Local financial institutions	 216,882,361 
(members of Local Banks,  
Savings Banks and Cooperative  
Banks in Denmark) 

4 ��Regional financial institutions	 194,508,433 
(members of the Association of 
Regional Banks)

4 �Finansiel Stabilitet	 33,879,086 
(including FS Finans II A/S,  
FS Finans III A/S and  
FS Finans IV A/S

4 �PRAS A/S	 35,137,035
4 �Other shareholders	 89,557,108

It must be stated that the following shareholders 
held at least 5 pc of the nominal share capital at the 
end of 2015:

Loan-providing shareholding banks:
4 �Jyske Bank A/S
4 �Spar Nord Bank A/S 
4 �Sydbank A/S 

Other shareholders:
4 �Finansiel Stabilitet A/S1)

4 �Nykredit Realkredit A/S
4 �PRAS A/S 
1) DLR has informed Finansiel Stabilitet that – sub-
ject to specified condition - DLR will buy back the 
holding of DLR shares before the end of 2017
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Redistribution of shares
Between the shareholders, a shareholders’ agree-
ment has been made according to which the share-
holders implement a redistribution of shares every 
year. The next redistribution of shares will take 
place on 1 March 2016 (on the basis of the remain-
ing bond debt at 31 December 2015).

Other Directorships Held by the Board of  
Directors
Ole Selch Bak, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director of Djurslands Bank A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Djurs Invest ApS
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of Bankdata
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of JN Data
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

The Association of Local Banks, Savings Banks 
and Cooperative Banks in Denmark

Anders Dam, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director & CEO of Jyske Bank A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Jyske Banks Almennyttige Fond and  
Holdingselskab A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors  
and Vice Chairman of Bankdata

4 �Member of the Board of Directors  
of Jyske Bank’s Pensionstilskudsfond

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
The Danish Bankers Association

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
FR I of 16 September 2015 A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
The Danish Regional Bankers’ Association

4 �Member of the Committee of Shareholders  
of Det Private Beredskab

4 �Alternate in Værdiansættelsesrådet  
(The Danish Value Assessment Council)

Karen Frøsig, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director and CEO of Sydbank A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Ejendomsselskabet af 1. Juni 1986 A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of DIBA A/S
4 �Chairman of Bankdata 

4 �Member of the Board of Directors  
and vice chairman of PRAS A/S 

4 �Member of the Board of Directors  
of The Danish Regional Bankers’ Association

4 �Member of the Board of Directors in  
The Danish Bankers Association

4 �Member of the Board of Directors in  
Totalkredit A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors in  
BI Holding A/S (Bankinvest Gruppen)

4 �Member of the Board of Directors in Musikhuset 
Esbjerg (The Esbjerg Performing Arts Centre) 
(Commercial Foundation)

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
FR I of 16 September 2015 A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Sydbank Sønderjyllands Fond

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Sydbank Fonden

Peter Gæmelke, Farmer
4 �Chairman of Danske Spil A/S
4 �Chairman of the foundation Løvenholmfonden 

(Commercial Foundation)
4 �Chairman of NGF Nature Energy Biogas A/S
4 �Chairman of Foreningen NLP fmba 
4 �Chairman of Trigon Agri A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors in Kirkbi A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

H.C. Petersen & Co.’s Eftf. A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Fællesfonden
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Nordea Liv & Pension
4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  

member of the Committee of Shareholders  
of Tryghedsgruppen smba

4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  
member of the Committee of Shareholders  
of Askov Højskole

4 �Member of the Committee of Directors  
of Danmarks Nationalbank

4 �Member of the Committee of Shareholders in 
Sydbank A/S

4 �Member of the Committee of Representatives  
in Hedeselskabet
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Vagn Hansen, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director & CEO of  

Sparekassen Vendsyssel
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

EgnsInvest Holding A/S as well as two  
subsidiaries

4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  
HN Invest Tyskland 1 A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
SparInvest Holdings SE

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Ejendomsselskabet Vendsyssel ApS

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Skandinavisk Data Center A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Spar Pantebrevsinvest A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors,  
The Association of Local Banks, Savings Banks 
and Cooperative Banks in Denmark

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Forvaltningsinstituttet for Lokale Pengeinstitutter

Lars Møller, Managing Director
4 �Managing Director of Spar Nord Bank A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

BI Holding A/S (Bankinvest Gruppen)
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

BI Asset Management A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

BI Management A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Aktieselskabet Skelagervej 15

Torben Nielsen, former governor of  
Danmarks Nationalbank
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Investeringsforeningen Sparinvest
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Eik Banki p/f
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of Investe

ringsforeningen Sparinvest SICAV, Luxembourg
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of Museum 

Sydøstdanmark
4 �Chairman of the Board of  

Directors of Capital Market Partners A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of  

Directors of Sydbank A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  
Vice Chairman of Tryg A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  
Vice Chairman of Tryg Forsikring A/S

4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  
Sampension KP Livsforsikring a/s

Jan Pedersen, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director & CEO of  

Danske Andelskassers Bank A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

DAB Invest A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

DAB Invest 2 A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Bankernes EDB-central (BEC)
4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  

Vice Chairman of Sparinvest Holding SE
4 �Chairman and Managing Director of  

Villa Prisme Komplementaranpartsselskab

Lars Petersson, Managing Director & CEO
4 �Managing Director & CEO of  

Sparekassen Sjælland A/S
4 �Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Sparekassen Fyn A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Leasing Fyn Bank A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

Leasing Fyn Faaborg A/S
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

BI Holding A/S (the Bankinvest Group)
4 �Member of the Board of Directors of  

ForsikringsSamarbejde A/S (FSS)
4 �Member of the Board of Directors and  

Managing Director of Sjælland Ejendomme A/S 
as well as three subsidiaries

Benny Pedersen, Farmer and Valuation Expert
4 �Self-employed farmer

Søren Jensen, Legal Consultant
4 �Self-employed farmer

Claus Andreasen, Administrative Officer
4 �Member of the Board of Directors,  

Kipling Travel A/S



3920152015

Profit and Loss Account and Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
Balance Sheet
Statement of Changes in Equity
Notes
Solvency
Cash Flow Statement
Series Financial Statements



40

Statement of Comprehensive Income

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Interest income	 3,624	 3,803	

Interest expenses	 (1,900)	 (2,123)	

Net interest income	 1,724	 1,680	

Dividends from shares, etc.	 1	 1	

Fee and commission income	 170	 229	

Fee and commission paid	 (388)	 (402)	

Net interest and fee income	 1,507	 1,508	

Value adjustments	 (330)	 (188)	

Other operating income	 18	 17	

Staff costs and administrative expenses	 (216)	 (211)	

Depreciation and impairment losses	 (3)	 (4)

Other operating expenses	 (6)	 0

Provisions for loan and receivable impairment, etc.	 (94)	 (191)	

Profit before tax	 875	 933	

Tax	 (206)	 (230)	

Profit for the year	 670	 703	

	 2015	 2014	

Profit for the year	 670	 703	

Revaluation of domicile properties	 0	 24	

Of which tax	 0	 (5)

		

Total comprehensive income for the year	 670	 722

Attributable to:

Shareholders of DLR Kredit A/S*	 558	 606

Owners of hybrid core capital	 112	 116

Total comprehensive income for the year	 670	 722

* In addition the shareholders of DLR Kredit A/S receive 26 mio. DKK as a result of a tax deduction on payment to owners  

of hybrid core capital

Note

2

3

4

5

18+19

10

9

Note

Profit and Loss Account

Profit and Loss Account and Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the period 1 January - 31 December 2015
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014

Assets

	

Cash in hand and demand deposits with central banks	 249	 48

Receivables from credit institutions and central banks	 2,713	 14,553 	  

Loans, advances and other receivables at fair value	 133,016	 133,198

Loans, advances and other receivables at amortised cost	 22	 20

Bonds at fair value	 11,978	 9,166

Shares, etc.	 55	 68

Land and buildings, domicile properties	 98	 99

Other tangible assets	 5	 6

Current tax assets	 0	 14

Deferred tax assets	 1	 2

Assets temporarily foreclosed	 62	 31

Other assets	 223	 416

Prepayments	 19	 16

Total assets	 148,442	 157,637

	

	

Liabilities and equity		

		

Debt to credit institutions and central banks	 0	 2,000

Issued bonds at fair value	 130,342	 135,322

Issued bonds at amortised cost	 4,000	 6,002

Current tax liabilities	 4	 0

Other debt and payables	 1,585	 1,630

Deferred income	 2	 3

Total debt	 135,934	 144,958

		

Provisions for deferred tax	 5	 5

Total provisions	 5	 5

		

Subordinated debt	 0	 755

	

Share capital	 570	 570

Revaluation reserve	 43	 43

Undistributable reserve	 2,338	 2,338

Retained earnings	 8,252	 7,668

Owners of hybrid core capital	 1,300	 1,300	

Total equity	 12,503	 11,919

		

Total liabilities and equity	 148,442	 157,637

Off-balance sheet items	 16	 19

		

		

		

Note

11

12

12

16

17

18

19

32

20

26

27

28

31

32

34

33

21

Balance Sheet at 31 December 2015
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(DKKm)	 Share	 Revaluation-	 Undistri-	 Retained	 Owners	 Total
	 capital 1)	 reserve	 butable	 earnings	 of hybrid core
			   reserve		  capital 2)

2014

Equity at 1 January 2014	 570	 24	 2,338	 7,052	 1,300	 11,284

Profit for the year	 0	 0	 0	 587	 116	 703

Domicile properties	 0	 24	 0	 0	 0	 24

Transactions with owners

Interest on hybrid core capital	 0	 0	 0	 0	 (116)	 (116)

Tax		  0	 (5)	 0	 28	 0	 23

Equity at 31 December 2014	 570	 43	 2,338	 7,667	 1,300	 11,919

2015

Equity at 1 January 2015	 570	 43	 2,338	 7,667	 1,300	 11,919

Profit for the year	 0	 0	 0	 558	 112	 670

Domicile properties	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Transactions with owners

Interest on hybrid core capital	 0	 0	 0	 0	 (112)	 (112)

Tax		  0	 0	 0	 26	 0	 26

Equity at 31 December 2015	 570	 43	 2,338	 8,252	 1,300	 12,503

1) The share capital is divided into shares of each DKK 1.00. DLR Kredit A/S has only one class of shares where all shares carry the same rights.		

2) Hybrid core capital that comply with the rules in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR).

The DKK 1,300m with a conversion obligation was raised on 27 August 2012. The maturity is infinite. The interest rate is floating and based on the 

six-months money market interest rate (CIBOR) with addition of 8.25 per cent. The total hybrid core capital can be included in the capital base at 31 

December 2015.

Interest: 112

Note

Statement of Changes in Equity
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DLR Kredit’s Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the accounting rules for mortgage 
banks issued by the Danish Financial Supervisory 
Authority as well as the disclosure requirements for 
issuers of listed bonds specified by NASDAQ Co-
penhagen.

Compared to 2014, the accounting policies have 
been changed in respect of the classification of hy-
brid core capital. DLR Kredit has no contractual ob-
ligations regarding repayment of the hybrid capital 
which is why this capital does not meet the require-
ments of a financial liability. Therefore, the change 
has been made with a view to ensuring that the 
presentation of the financial statements complies 
with IFRS 32, which is compatible with the Danish 
Executive Order on the Presentation of Financial 
Statements.

The change implies that hybrid core capital is clas-
sified as equity and that payments to owners of the 
hybrid core capital are not recognised in the profit 
and loss account, but included instead in the allo-
cation of comprehensive income.

The change resulted in the following changes to the 
financial statements:

Balance Sheet:
A decrease of DKK 1,300m in subordinated debt 
and an opposite increase in equity of DKK 1,300m 
for both 2014 and 2015. 

Profit and Loss Account:
A decrease in interest expenses of DKK 116m 
in 2014 and DKK 112m in 2015. As a direct con-
sequence, profit for the year increased by corre-
sponding amounts.

Allocation of Comprehensive Income:
Payments to owners of hybrid core capital at DKK 
116m in 2014 and DKK 112m in 2015 have been in-
cluded in the allocation of comprehensive income.

For future financial years, the above items are not 
expected to be influenced by amounts equivalent 
to those in 2015.

Comparative figures have been restated in compli-
ance with the above.

Future sets of rules that may be 
significant
With effect from 1 January 2018, IFRS 9 is ex-
pected to become effective, and this standard is 
i.a. concerned with new rules for impairment write-
downs on loans at amortised cost. 

Even though DLR does not present financial state-
ments in accordance with IFRS, it is considered 
likely that the Danish FSA’s Executive Order on the 
Presentation of Financial Statements will be adjust-
ed in accordance with the rules in IFRS 9.

The new set of rules only deal with loans at am-
ortised cost, which is why mortgage credit loans 
measured at fair value will not fall directly under 
the scope of these rules. However, there has been 
a historic, significant trend to pass on the impair-
ment write-down principles from amortised cost to 
the impairment write-down principles for mortgage 
credit loans to fair value. Since considerable un-
certainty remains regarding if and how the new set 
of rules will affect DLR, it has not been possible to 
carry out any reliable impact analyses.  

Presentation, recognition and mea-
surement in general
The accounting figures are presented in whole mil-
lions of DKK with no decimals unless it is judged to 
be essential to provide decimals.

Total amounts in the financial statements have 
been calculated based on actual figures, which 
constitutes the correct mathematical method. A re-
calculation of total amounts may in certain cases 
result in a rounding difference, which reflects that 
the underlying decimals are not visible for the read-
er of the financial statements.

Note 1	 Accounting Policies (most material items)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Assets are recognised in the balance sheet if as a 
consequence of a previous event it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to DLR, and if the 
value of the asset can be measure reliably.

Liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet 
when a legal or constructive obligation arises for 
DLR as a result of a previous event, and when it 
is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
from DLR, and if the value of the liability can be 
measured reliably.

On initial recognition, assets and liabilities are 
measured at cost. Subsequent measurement will 
take place for each individual item as described in 
the following, but as a principal rule, balance sheet 
items are measured at fair value.

Recognition and measurement allow for predicta-
ble risks and losses arising before the presentation 
of the annual report and which confirm or invalidate 
circumstances existing at the balance sheet date.

Income is recognised in the profit and loss account 
as earned, whereas costs are recognised with the 
amounts that relate to the financial year under re-
view. Financial instruments are recognised on the 
settlement date, and changes in the fair value of in-
struments purchased or sold in the period between 
the trade date and the settlement date are recog-
nised as financial assets or liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are measured at 
fair value at the balance sheet date.
Unrealised as well as realised capital gains or loss-
es are recognised in the profit and loss account and 
in the balance sheet under Other assets or Other 
debt and payables, respectively.

Forward transactions
Unsettled forward securities transactions are meas-
ured at the forward price at the calculation date. 
The forward premium is accrued and recognised 
in the profit and loss account under “Other inter-

est income” and in the balance sheet under “Other 
assets” or “Other debt and payables”, respective-
ly. Adjustments to market value are included in the 
profit and loss account under “Value adjustments” 
and in the balance sheet under “Other assets” or 
“Other debt and payables”, respectively.

Hedge accounting
Changes to the fair value of derivative financial in-
struments that have been designated as and meet 
the conditions for hedging the fair value of a recog-
nised asset or a recognised liability are recognised 
in the profit and loss account together with chang-
es in the value of the hedged asset or the hedged 
liability. Other changes are recognised in the profit 
and loss account as financial income or expenses. 

Foreign currency translation
On initial recognition, transactions in foreign cur-
rency are translated at the exchange rates at the 
dates of transaction. Receivables, payables and 
other monetary items in foreign currencies that are 
not settled at the balance sheet date are translated 
at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. 
Any differences in exchange rates that may arise 
between the exchange rates at the transaction 
date and the exchange rates at the payment date 
or the balance sheet date, respectively, are entered 
in the profit and loss account as financial income or 
expenses.

Accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
the use of qualified accounting estimates. These 
estimates and judgments are made by DLR’s 
Management in compliance with our accounting 
policies and based on historical experience as 
well as an assessment of future conditions. The 
accounting estimates and assumptions are tested 
and assessed on a regular basis. The accounting 
estimates and judgments applied are based on as-
sumptions deemed reliable and realistic by Man-
agement, but by their very nature there is some 
degree of uncertainty attached to them. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The areas that involve assumptions and estimates 
that are significant to the financial statements com-
prise the determination of fair value for certain fi-
nancial instruments as well as the valuation of 
loans. Note 30 accounts for the methods used in 
the calculation of the carrying amounts and the par-
ticular uncertainties attached to the measurement 
at fair value of financial instruments.

Profit and loss account
According to the Financial Statements Order, net 
interest and fee income and value adjustments 
must be presented by activity and geographic mar-
ket where different activities or markets exist. DLR 
has one single activity in one single geographic 
market, and consequently such information has 
been omitted.

Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses, including default 
interest as well as administration fees, has been 
accrued to include incurred, but not yet due interest 
and fees in the profit and loss account. As far as 
payments to owners of hybrid core capital are con-
cerned, such payments are included in the alloca-
tion of comprehensive income, cf. the above-men-
tioned change in accounting policies.

Fee and commission income
Loan application fees, other fees, brokerage and 
trading margin in connection with refinancing are 
recognised in the profit and loss account on com-
pletion of the individual transaction.

Fee and commission paid
Loan-provision commissions to financial institu-
tions are recognised in the profit and loss account 
when the transactions have been completed. Loss 
guarantee commissions to financial institutions are 
recognised in the profit and loss account under the 
accrual basis of accounting. To the extent that DLR 
has a right to offset ascertained losses in the com-
missions for the individual financial institutions, this 
will entail reduced commission payment from DLR 
to the individual financial institution.

Value adjustments
Capital gains and price losses on the securities 
portfolio have been recognised in the profit and 
loss account and include both realised and unreal-
ised gains and losses.

Staff costs and administrative expenses
Staff costs include wages and salaries as well as 
social cost and pensions etc. to DLR’s employees.

Administrative expenses include costs in connec-
tion with distribution, sale, advertising, administra-
tion, etc.

Provision for loan and receivable impairment
Provisions for loan and receivable impairment com-
prise value adjustments of write-downs falling with-
in objective indication as well as losses ascertained 
for the period and amounts relating to recovery of 
debt previously written off. 

Tax
Tax for the year, which includes current tax and 
changes in deferred tax for the year, is recognised 
in the profit and loss account with the share that 
is attributable to the profit for the year and in other 
comprehensive income, or directly in equity with 
the share that can be attributed to entries made in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

Current tax payable and current tax receivable are 
recognised in the balance sheet as the tax calcu-
lated on the taxable income for the year adjusted 
for prepaid tax. Interest surcharges under the Tax 
Prepayment Scheme are included in net interest 
income.

When calculating current tax for the year, the tax 
rates and regulation prevailing at the balance sheet 
date are applied.

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts and the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets 
or tax liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet 
at the value at which the assets/liabilities are ex-

Notes to the Financial Statements
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pected to be realised. At each balance sheet date 
it is estimated whether it is probable that sufficient 
future taxable income will be available in the future 
against which the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income constitutes profit for the 
year plus other comprehensive income, e.g. reval-
uation of domicile properties.

Balance sheet
Receivables from credit institutions and central 
banks
Demand deposits and time deposits with financial 
institutions are measured on initial recognition at 
fair value on initial recognition. Subsequent meas-
urement is carried out at fair value.

Loans, advances and other receivables
Mortgage loans are measured at fair value and 
comprise adjustments for market risk based on 
the value of the bonds issued and adjustments for 
credit risk based on the provisioning need.
 
Other loans and advances are measured at amor-
tised cost, which usually corresponds to the nom-
inal value less initial fees etc., and less provisions 
for anticipated loan and receivable impairment 
losses.

Individual impairment charges are determined 
on the basis of separate examinations of partly a 
number of large loans and commitments and partly 
loans that are in arrears or subject to other objec-
tive evidence of impairment. If it is assumed highly 
probable that the borrower will default on the loan, 
an impairment charge is provided based on the ex-
pected loss which DLR is estimated to suffer follow-
ing a forced sale of the mortgaged property.

Collective impairment charges are determined ap-
plying a model based on a fundamental analysis of 
the developments in a number of various material 
social parameters, which are assumed to influence 
the customers’ general ability to pay. To ensure 

that this model can be applied, the model has been 
adapted to DLR’s agricultural portfolio, and the var-
iables have been identified that best describe the 
sub-group categories of production farms and res-
idential farms. In respect of other properties than 
farms, DLR has not had adequate statistical data, 
and consequently the collective impairment charg-
es have been determined in a relative proportion to 
provisions on the agricultural portfolio. To the ex-
tent that the model is considered not to reflect new, 
significant information to a sufficient extent that 
could have an impact on the demand for impair-
ment charges, Management will make corrections.

Claims previously written off that are estimated to 
provide future economic advantages, are recog-
nised in the balance sheet and adjusted in value 
in the profit and loss account. At present, DLR is 
estimated to hold no such claims.

Bonds at fair value
Bonds traded in active markets are recognised at 
fair value. The fair value is determined as the clos-
ing price on the balance sheet date. Index-linked 
bonds are recognised at the indexed value on the 
balance sheet date.

For bonds that are not traded actively, a calculated 
market price is used.

DLR’s portfolio of own issued bonds is offset 
against the item of “Issued bonds” under liabilities 
in the balance sheet.

Shares, etc.
Shares traded in active markets are recognised at 
fair value. The fair value is determined as the clos-
ing price on the balance sheet date.

Unlisted shares are recognised at fair value. Where 
the fair value cannot be measured reliably, unlisted 
shares are measured at cost, less any write-downs.

Land and buildings, domicile properties
Domicile properties are initially recognised at cost. 
After initial recognition, domicile properties are rec-

Notes to the Financial Statements
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ognised at a reassessed value, which is the fair 
value at the time of reassessment less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Annual reassessments are made ensuring that the 
carrying amount will not differ materially from the 
value that would have been determined on the bal-
ance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are recognised in the carrying 
amount of the asset in question, or the asset may 
be recognised as a separate asset when it is prob-
able that the costs incurred will result in future eco-
nomic benefits to the entity and the costs can be 
measured reliably. The costs for ordinary repairs 
and maintenance are recognised in the profit and 
loss account when incurred.

Positive value adjustments of own properties are 
recognised in revaluation reserve. Losses are rec-
ognised in the profit and loss account, unless the 
loss offsets an increase in value that was previous-
ly added to revaluation reserve.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of 50 years, with due 
consideration to the expected residual value at the 
end of the useful life. Land is not depreciated.

Other tangible assets
Machinery and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and write-down for 
impairment. Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful life of the asset, 
however not exceeding 5 years.

Assets temporarily foreclosed
Properties temporarily foreclosed are measured 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs of sale. The item includes the remaining debt 
on mortgages issued to DLR as well as any debt in 
default on such properties. The item furthermore 
includes payments due and outlays made at the 
time of the forced auction sale as well as income 
and expenses etc. after the time when the property 
has been taken over. These assets are not depre-
ciated. The item is reduced by the necessary write-
downs for impairment losses on such properties.

Other assets
“Other assets” include receivables as well as other 
receivables such as various account balances with 
customers in connection with loan applications. 
These assets are measured at amortised cost.

Furthermore, positive market values are recog-
nised from financial instruments measured at fair 
value.

Prepayments and deferred income
Prepayments recognised as assets include pre-
paid expenses that relate to the following financial 
year. Deferred income recognised as liabilities in-
clude amounts received that relate to the following 
financial year. Prepayments and deferred income 
are measured at cost.

Debt to credit institutions and central banks
Debt to credit institutions and central banks includ-
ing money-market loans are measured at fair value 
on initial recognition and subsequently at amor-
tised cost.

Bonds issued at fair value
Mortgage bonds issued are measured at fair value. 
As a principal rule, fair value is determined as the 
closing price at the balance sheet date. For bonds 
that are not traded actively, a calculated market 
price is used. 

Bonds issued at amortised cost
Issued senior debt is measured at fair value on ini-
tial recognition and subsequently at amortised cost.

Other debt and payables
Other debt and payables include payables and 
sundry accounts payable such as various account 
balances with customers in connection with loan 
applications. 
These liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Furthermore, negative market values are recog-
nised for financial instruments measured at fair 
value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Equity
When in 2001 DLR was converted into a limited 
liability company, an undistributable reserve fund 
was established, which corresponded to the value 
of the contributed assets less debt. 

The undistributable reserves are not available for 
distribution as dividends; however, it may be used 
subsequent to DLR’s other reserves to cover any 
losses. In the event of the winding-up of DLR, the 
undistributable reserve fund shall be used to fur-
ther agricultural purposes according to resolution 
by the Annual General Meeting.

Where the maturity is indefinite, or where contri-
butions on the part of the creditor are non-callable, 
and where the issuer may choose to abstain from 
paying coupon, hybrid core capital is classified as 
equity

Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement shows DLR’s cash flows 
for the year classified by cash flows from operating 
activities as well as cash flows from lending, fund-
ing and financing activities.
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Interest income from:

Loans and advances	 1,989	 2,264

Administration fees	 1,440	 1,411

Bonds	 306	 379

Other interest income	 39	 24

Total interest income	 3,773	 4,078

Interest from own mortgage bonds offset agains  

interest on issued bonds			   (149)	 (275)

Total	 3,624	 3,803

Interest expenses for:

Credit institutions and central banks	 6	 0

Issued bonds	 1,974	 2,257

Hybrid core capital	 4	 9

Government hybrid core capital	 0	 36

Senior debt	 66	 95

Other interest expenses	 0	 1

Total interests expenses	 2,049	 2,398

Interest from own mortgage bonds	 (149)	 (275)

Total	 1,900	 2,123	

Of which interest expenses from genuine sale  

and repurchase transactions recognised as	

Debt to credit institutions and central banks	 0	 0

Value adjustments of:

Mortgage loans	 (981)	 550

Bonds	 (328)	 (186)

Shares, etc.	 (14)	 (7)

Other assets	 1	 1

Foreign exchange	 5	 (4)

Derivative financial instruments	 6	 8

Issued bonds	 981	 (550)

Total value adjustments	 (330)	 (188)

	

	

Note

2

3

4

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Staff costs and administrative expenses:

Staff costs		

Salaries	 104	 99

Pension costs	 10	 9

Social security costs	 16	 14

Total	 129	 122

Other administrative expenses

Valuation expenses	 13	 12

Office expenses, etc.	 47	 51

Audit, supervision, etc.	 8	 8

Other operating costs	 18	 17

Total staff and administrative expenses	 216	 211

	

Executive Board

Fixed remuneration	 8.1	 7.0

Variable remuneration	 0.0	 0.0

Total remuneration to the Executive Board	 8.1	 7.0

Number of members of the Executive Board, year-end	 2	 2

Remuneration to members of the Executive Board

Bent Andersen, Managing Director & CEO*	 2.2	 4.2

Jens Kr. A. Møller, Managing Director & CEO**	 3.4	 2.8		

Michael Jensen, Managing Director (took office on 1 January 2015)	 2.5	 0.0

Total remuneration to the Executive Board	 8.1	 7.0

			 

* Bent Andersen was managing director and CEO until 30 April 2015. In addition to the above amounts, an amount of DKK 4m was provided 

in 2014 in connection with Bent Andersen's retirement at the end of April 2015. This amount was paid out in 2015.

** Jens Kr. A. Møller was managing director until 30 April 2015 and CEO from 1 May 2015.

Board of Directors

Fixed remuneration	 2.0	 1.7

Variable remuneration	 0.0	 0.0

Directors	 2.0	 1.7

	

Number of members of the Board of Directors, year-end	 14	 14

The Chairman of the Board of Directors receives annual remuneration in the amount of DKK 247.5 thousand, the Vice Chairman receives an  

annual amount of DKK 165 thousand, and the other members of the Board of Directors receive an annual amount of DKK 110 thousand.

In addition, the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives annual remuneration in the amount of DKK 55 thousand, and the other members  

of the Audit Committee receive an annual amount of DKK 27.5 thousand.

In addition, the Chairman of the Risk Committee receives annual remuneration in the amount of DKK 55 thousand, and the other members  

of the Risk Committee receive an annual amount of DKK 27.5 thousand. 

Other employees that influence the risk profile		

Fixed remuneration	 13.5	 12.9

Variable remuneration	 0.0	 0.0

Total remuneration to other employees that influence the risk profile	 13.5	 12.9

Number of employees that influence the risk profile at year-end	 13	 13

The Company has no pension obligations to or incentive schemes for the above group of persons.

Note

5

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Executive Board and Board of Directors. Amount of loans, pledges,  

securities or guarantees granted to members of the credit institution

Executive Board:

Loans, etc.	 0	 0

Board of Directors:	

Loans, etc.	 32	 32

		

DLR has pledged no assets, nor provided other collateral, nor committed to any off-balance sheet liabilities on behalf of any member of  

the Executive Board or the Board of Directors, or their related parties.

Exposures against related party are made in accordance with usual business terms and provided at an arm’s length basis at current market rates.

Besides the above mentioned DLR has no further transachons with related parties.

Interest rates (incl. administration margin) 2015:	

Executive Board: No loans

Board of Directors: 1.1-3.0 pc p.a.*

*The interest rates (incl. administration margin) apply to various types of loans  

based on various types of mortgage bonds/SDOs

No write-downs have been made on commitments with the Executive Board or the Board of Directors.

		

Audit fees

Statutory audit of the financial statements	 0.9	 0.9

Other assurance engagements	 0.1	 0.1

Tax advice	 0.1	 0.0

Other services	 0.4	 0.3

Total fees to the accounting firm appointed by the Annual General Meeting,  

performing the statutory audit	 1.5	 1.3

		

Number of employees

Average number of employees in the financial year 

in full-time equivalents	 163	 155

		

Tax (explanation in DKKm)

Applicable tax rate of ”Profit before tax”	 206	 229

Deferred tax	 0	 6

Deferred tax related to equity entries	 0	 (5)

Readjustments of tax charge for previous years	 0	 0

Total tax	 206	 230	

		

Tax (explanation of effective tax rate)

Current tax rate	 23,5	 24.5

Non-taxable income	 (0.1)	 0.0

Non-deductible expenses	 0.0	 0.2

Adjustment for deferred tax	 0.1	 (0.1)

Effective tax rate	 23.5	 24.6

Note

6

7

8

9
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014

Provisions for loan and receivable impairment, etc.

Individual provisions

Provisions, loans and guarantees, beginning-of-year	 333	 342

Provisions for the period	 235	 126

Reversal of provisions	 (123)	 (135)

Provisions, year-end	 445	 333

		

Collective provisions

Provisions, loans and guarantees, beginning-of-year	 198	 39

Provisions for the period	 0	 188

Reversal of provisions	 (54)	 (29)

Provisions, year-end	 145	 198	 	

	

Total provisions, year-end	 590	 531		  	

	

Fair value of commitments subject to individual provisions

Before provisions	 3,671	 2,641

After provisions	 3,225	 2,308	

		

Impairment losses for the period	 (39)	 (48)

Recovery of debt previously written off	 4	 7

Provisions for the period	 (235)	 (285)

Reversal of provisions	 176	 135

Provisions for loan and receivable impairment, etc.	 (94)	 (191)	

		

Receivables from credit institutions and central banks

Receivables with period of notice from central banks	 1	 0

Receivables from credit institutions and central banks	 2,712	 14,553

Total receivables from credit institutions and central banks	 2,713	 14,553

By remaining term to maturity

Demand deposits	 2,712	 14,366

Up to three months	 1	 186

Over three months and up to one year	 0	 0

Over one year and up to five years	 0	 0

Over five years	 0	 0

Total	 2,713	 14,553		  	

			 

Note

10

11
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014

Loans and advances

Mortgage loans, nominal value	 132,455	 131,590

Adjustment for interest rate risk	 1,015	 1,990

Adjustment for credit risk	 (562)	 (506)

Total mortgage loans at fair value	 132,908	 133,075

Arrears and outlays	 108	 124

Other loans and advances	 22	 20

Total loans and advances	 133,038	 133,219

		

By remaining term to maturity

Up to three months	 820	 1,410

Over three months and up to one year	 2,115	 2,690

Over one year and up to five years	 19,596	 17,131

Over five years	 110,507	 111,988

Total	 133,038	 133,219	

Pursuant to special legislation, a government guarantee of DKK 539m has been provided as supplementary  
security for loans to young farmers. Interim loan guarantees of DKK 800m have been provided for debt rescheduling loans.
As supplementary security for mortgage loans apart from mortgages, bankers’ guarantees of DKK 16,764m have been provided.

Arrears and execution

Arrears before provisions	 122	 142

Execution before provisions	 10	 0

Provisions for arrears and execution	 (24)	 (18)

Total	 108	 124

Mortgage loans (nominal value) by property category (as a percentage)

Agricultural properties	 64	 64

Owner-occupied dwellings	 6	 6

Subsidised rental housing properties	 0	 0

Private rental housing properties	 13	 13

Office and business properties	 15	 15

Properties for manufacturing and manual industries	 1	 0

Properties for social, cultural and educational purposes	 0	 0

Other properties	 1	 1

Total, as a percentage	 100	 100	

Number of mortgages, year-end	 59,071	 62,091

Bonds at fair value

Own mortgage bonds	 26,235	 48,067

Other mortgage bonds	 10,635	 9,166

Government bonds	 1,343	 0

Other bonds	 0	 164

Total bonds	 38,213	 57,396

Own mortgage bonds offset against issued bonds	 (26,235)	 (48,231)

Total	 11,978	 9,166

Note

12

13

14

15

16

Notes to the Financial Statements



54

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Shares, etc.

Other shares	 55	 68

Total shares, etc.	 55	 68

Land and buildings  

(domicile properties)

Fair value, beginning-of-year	 99	 76

Additions during the year	 0	 0

Depreciation	 (1)	 (1)

Value changes recognised in other comprehensive income	 0	 24

Fair value, year-end	 98	 99

The value of domicile properties is measured on an annual basis by DLR's commercial valuation experts.

Other tangible assets

Cost, beginning-of-year	 32	 30

Additions during the year	 3	 3

Disposals during the year	 (6)	 (1)

Cost, year-end	 29	 32

Depreciation, beginning-of-year	 26	 24

Depreciation for the year	 3	 3

Depreciation written back	 (5)	 (1)

Depreciation, year-end	 24	 26

Total other tangible assets	 5	 6

Other assets

Positive market value of derivative financial instruments, etc.	 5	 32

Other receivables	 63	 198

Interest and commission receivable	 155	 186

Total	 223	 416

		

Note

17

18

19

20
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Note

21

22

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Credit risk

Total credit exposure distributed on balance sheet and off-balance sheet items:

Balance sheet items

Cash in hand and demand deposits with central banks	 249	 48

Receivables from credit institutions and central banks	 2,713	 14,553

Loans and other receivables at fair value	 133,016	 133,198

Loans and other receivables at amortised cost	 22	 20

Bonds at fair value	 11,978	 9,166

Shares, etc.	 55	 68

Other assets	 223	 416

Derivative financial instruments	 5	 32

Total, balance sheet items	 148,262	 157,500

Off-balance sheet items

Guarantees, etc.	 1	 1

Other liabilities	 15	 18

Total, off-balance sheet items	 16	 19

Credit policy and security		
DLR’s lending area is concentrated around granting loans to agricultural, forestrial and horticultural properties, closed-down farms (owner-oc-
cupied homes) as well as private rental housing properties, cooperative housing properties and office and business properties in Denmark. 
Furthermore, to a smaller extent, loans are granted in the Faroe Islands and in Greenland.

DLR’s lending takes place in cooperation with the banks that hold shares in DLR and which – in their capacity as loan providers – offer advice 
to borrowers about DLR’s products

Generally speaking, DLR’s lending is based on three elements that form part of the overall assessment of a loan application: a valuation of 
the property in question, an assessment of the creditworthiness of the loan applicant, and the possibility of obtaining comprehensive finance, 
including the required business and operational credits from a financial institution.

The valuation of properties is carried out in compliance with the Danish FSA Executive Order on the valuation of mortgages and loans on real 
property.

In the valuation of agricultural properties, the production capacity of the property is emphasised in respect of animal production, soil quality, 
and as to whether there is a balance between animal production and the aggregate farm area.

In the valuation of urban trade properties, emphasis is placed on the leases attached to the property, including the nature of the leases and 
the possible alternative use and marketability of the property.
		 In the determination of the total loan amount, including to what extent the LTV for the property category in question can be utilized, 
emphasis is placed on the applicant’s financial results for a number of years. If the applicant’s financial situation has not developed satisfacto-
rily over a prolonged period of time, decisive emphasis will be placed on whether the loan in question will be given a ranking in the order of 
priority that must be considered risk-free.
		 In connection with acquisitions or the implementation of major investments, emphasis is put on budgets, i.a. whether balanced finances 
can be obtained based on expected, achievable budget assumptions. Furthermore, the equity of the applicant calculated on the basis of DLR’s 
valuation of the borrower’s properties is taken into consideration.		
In connection with loans, the loan-providing financial institution will post an individual guarantee for the individual loan throughout its 
maturity covering 6 pc of the remaining debt on the loan. The guarantee is reduced gradually as the loan is reduced, so that in view of the 
remaining debt on the loan, the guarantee percentage remains unchanged throughout the maturity of the loan. The guarantee covers the 
least secure part of the total loans on the individual property. In addition, a loss offset scheme has been set up in which the individual bank 
offsets any loss that DLR may incur on loans granted by the bank in question beyond the 6 pc guarantees at loan level. Losses will be offset in 
the aggregate commissions of the bank in question for the entire loan portfolio, except for loan-provision commission and brokerage refund, 
and may be offset for the following three years’ commissions.

To the extent that there are losses to be offset exceeding the anticipated commissions of the current and the two following years, DLR may 
require such losses covered through a drawing on the direct guarantees made by the bank in question. This guarantee concept was launched 
with loan offers from the beginning of 2015. Currently, the portfolio in question amounts to well over DKK 20bn.

Furthermore, DLR has previously introduced two different loss guarantee concepts that still cover considerable parts of DLR’s portfolio.

In connection with loans to other property categories than agricultural properties and closed-down farms/farmhouses, the loan-providing 
financial institution would previously provide a guarantee for the lowest-ranking DLR mortgage covering in the order of 25-100 pc of the 
mortgage in question. At the end of 2015, the loan loss agreements under this guarantee concept comprise guarantees at a total of DKK 14.4 
provided for a portfolio of well over currently DKK 34bn.
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In connection with loans against agricultural properties, the loan-providing financial institutions have acceded to a collective loss guaran-
tee scheme. DLR has entered into an agreement with the loan-providing banks that hold shares in DLR to the effect that DLR will offset 
ascertained losses on loans to agricultural properties in the commissions to the individual banks concerning loans in this property category. 
Offsetting of losses will result in reduced payments of commission from DLR to the individual financial institution. This guarantee concept, 
which is also being phased out, comprises loans in the amount of just below DKK 69bn at the end of 2015.

The credit quality of DLR’s lending is supported in the below tables, which show the distribution of the total loan portfolio on LTV bands 
(loan intervals) calculated at the end of 2015 for the most significant property categories. The tables do not contain those parts of the lending 
which are in arrears, or which have been written down for impairment.		
The LTV distributions show how large a share of the loan portfolio is placed in the respective loan intervals. The starting point for the LTV dis-
tribution has been DLR’s most recent valuations or ”approved market values” (valuations made without physical inspection in connection with 
the ongoing LTV monitoring for loans based on covered bonds (SDOs)). In addition, a forward indexation has been made of the valuations to 
the price level for Q4 2015 to ensure that the basis applied for valuation will to the largest possible extent reflect the current price level.

It should also be noted that under the applicable guarantee concept the loan-providing financial institutions provide a guarantee for the least 
secure 6 pc of the loan. Furthermore, a considerable part of the portfolio of commercial properties is covered by the guarantee concept previ-
ously in force, where the loan-providing financial institutions provided a guarantee for the part of the loan that exceeded an LTV of 35 pc for 
office and business properties as well as 60 pc for rental properties, including cooperative housing properties. 

	

Agriculture: LTV 70 pc on the assumption of additional security of 10 pc of the value in the interval 60-70 pc for loans based on SDOs. 

Otherwise, an LTV of 60 pc. Loans to agricultural properties amounted to 64 pc of DLR Kredit’s total loan portfolio at the end of 2015.

Loan-to-value limit (LTV) as a percentage	 0-60	 60-70	 70+

Pc of loans in loan intervals		  90.3	 6.0	 3.7

Office and business properties: LTV 70 pc on the assumption of additional security of 10 pc of the value in the interval 60-70 pc has been 

met with for loans based on SDOs. Otherwise, an LTV of 60 pc. Loans to office and business properties amounted to 15 pc of DLR’s total loan 

portfolio at the end of 2015. 

Loan-to-value limit (LTV) as a percentage	 0-60	 60-70	 70+

Pc of loans in loan intervals		  88.6	 6.6	 4.8

Rental properties, including cooperative housing properties: LTV 80 pc. Loans to private rental properties and private cooperative hous-

ing properties amounted to 13 pc of DLR’s total loan portfolio at the end of 2015.

Loan-to-value limit (LTV) as a percentage	 0-80	 80+

Pc of loans in loan intervals		  94.6	 5.4

Owner-occupied homes: LTV 80 pc. Loans to owner-occupied homes amounted to 6 pc of DLR’s total loan portfolio at the end of 2015.

Loan-to-value limit (LTV) as a percentage	 0-80	 80+

Pc of loans in loan intervals		  98.4	 1.6

23
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(DKKm)		

Reasons for individual provisions

			   Remaining bond 	 Provision	 Remaining bond	 Provision

			   debt before		  debt before	

			   provision		  provision

Property category	 Reason	 2015	 2015	 2014	 2014

Farms, incl.	 Bankruptcy	 263	 48	 80	 21

residential farms, etc.	 Reconstruction	 0	 0	 0	 0

		  Current default 

		  on payments	 430	 80	 161	 28

		  Past default on 

		  payments, etc.	 2,415	 234	 1,938	 217

Total		  3,109	 362	 2,179	 266

Rental properties, incl. 	 Bankruptcy	 12	 1	 39	 6

private cooperative	 Reconstruction	 0	 0	 0	 0

housing properties	 Current default on payments	 1	 2	 20	 4

		  Past default on payments, etc.	 312	 38	 196	 17

Total		  326	 41	 255	 27

Office and 	 Bankruptcy	 27	 7	 27	 5

business properties	 Reconstruction	 0	 0	 0	 0

		  Current default on payments	 28	 3	 39	 4

		  Past default on payments, etc.	 169	 31	 154	 31

Total		  225	 41	 220	 40

					   

Other properties	 Bankruptcy	 0	 0	 0	 0 

		  Reconstruction	 0	 0	 0	 0

		  Current default				  

		  on payments	 0	 0	 2	 0

		  Past default on		

		  payments, etc.	 11	 2	 5	 1

Total		  12	 2	 6	 1

					  
The difference between the remaining bond debt before provisions and the actual provisions is estimated secured partly by means of the 

mortgage on the mortgaged property in question and partly by the financial institution guarantees placed as security for part of the loans. 

The background for this is that the calculation of provisions is based on the losses that DLR is likely to suffer in forced sales of the individual 

properties and in due consideration of the loss guarantees provided by the financial institutions.

Note

24
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Note

25

(DKKm)	

Loans in arrears, but without provisions, 

distributed by the age of the oldest arrears:

			   Remaining bond debt		  Remaining bond debt

Property category	 Age of oldest arrears	 2015		  2014	

				  
Farms, incl. 	 0-2 months	 2,912.9		  3,480.4

residential farms	 2-5 months   	 555.3		  686.2

		  5-8 months	 212.8		  99.6

		  8-11 months	 71.9		  17.7

		  Over 11 months	 22.0		  26.1

Total		  3,774.9		  4,310.0	

					   

Rental properties, incl. 	 0-2 months	 520.9		  578.6	

private cooperative	 2-5 months	 10.0		  40.3	

housing properties	 5-8 months	 3.0		  1.3	

		  8-11 months	 0.0		  8.8

		  Over 11 months	 16.8		  4.0

Total		  550.7		  633.0	

					   
Office and	 0-2 months	 899.6		  1,215.8	

business properties	 2-5 months	 90.0		  114.5	

		  5-8 months	 16.8		  45.0

		  8-11 months	 4.3		  28.2	

		  Over 11 months	 15.1		  19.7	

Total		  1.025.8		  1,423.2	

					   
Other properties	 0-2 months	 36.3		  327.7	

		  2-5 months 	 3.7		  76.6	

		  5-8 months	 0.0		  1.5

		  8-11 months	 0.0		  1.2	

		  Over 11 months	 0.0		  4.4

Total		  40.0		  411.4	

					   

As a general rule, loans in arrears fall within an OII (objective indication for impairment), and for such loans an impairment calculation is car-

ried out to determine whether there is a basis for making an individual provision.			 

Loans in arrears without individual provisions for impairment are substantially considered secured through the mortgage on the real property, 

which has been placed as security for the individual loans. In addition, there will generally – except for loans in agricultural properties – be a 

guarantee provided by a financial institution for part of DLR’s loans in the individual properties.
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Note

26

27

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Debt to credit institutions and central banks

Remaining term to maturity

Up to three months	 0	 2,000

Total	 0	 2,000

Issued bonds at fair value

Mortgage bonds - nominal value	 155,403	 180,888

Fair value adjustment	 1,175	 2,665

Own mortgage bonds offset - at fair value	 (26,235)	 (48,231)

Mortgage bonds at fair value	 130,342	 135,322

Of which pre-issued	 16,423	 27,834	

Drawn for redemption in next term	 820	 2,800	

Changes in the fair value of mortgage credit bonds and covered bonds (SDOs) attributable to changes in the credit risk can be determined 

relative to corresponding mortgage credit bonds and covered bonds (SDOs) from other Danish providers. The bonds that finance DLR’s loans 

have been rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s. The main part of other Danish mortgage credit bonds and covered bonds have been given the 

similar rating by Standard & Poor’s. 

As determined in this way, no fair value adjustments relate to DLR’s own credit risk, either in the course of the year, or since the issuance.

Consequently, total fair value adjustments of issued mortgage credit bonds and SDOs resulting from fair value changes in own credit risk 

amount to DKK 0.0m (2014: DKK 0.0m). DKK 0.0m of the cumulative effect is attributable to changes for 2015 (2014: DKK 0.0m).

By remaining term to maturity

Up to 3 months	 28,597	 63,398

Over 3 months	 13,861	 12,531

Over 1 year and up to 5 years	 89,980	 85,276

Over 5 years	 24,139	 22,348

Total	 156,577	 183,553
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Issued bonds at amortised cost

Issues in connection with senior debt	 4,000	 6,000

Employee bonds	 0	 2

Total issued bonds at amortised cost	 4,000	 6,002

Offsetting of own other bonds	 0	 0

Total	 4,000	 6,002

By remaining term to maturity

Up to 3 months	 0	 2

Over 3 months and up to 1 year	 2,000	 3,000

Over 1 year and up to 5 years	 2,000	 3,000

Total	 4,000	 6,002

Details on fair value of financial instruments that are not recognised at fair value 

Financial instruments are measured in the balance sheet either at fair value or at amortised cost. The table below shows the fair value of the 

instruments that are not recognised at fair value in the balance sheet.

Fair value constitutes the amount at which a financial asset can be exchanged, or at which a financial liability can be settled, between parties 

in an arm’s length transaction. For further information, see note 1 to Accounting Policies concerning recognition and measurement.

2015

		  Carrying amount	 Fair value

Loans and other receivables at amortised cost	 22	 22

Issued bonds at amortised cost	 4,000	 4,033

2014

		  Carrying amount	 Fair value

Loans and other receivables at amortised costs	 20	 20

Issued bonds at amortised cost	 6,002	 6,096

For other financial assets and liabilities that are not recognised at fair value, the carrying amount corresponds in all material 

respects to the fair value.

Note

28

29
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Note

30

(DKKm)			 

Fair value breakdown of financial instruments recognised at fair value

2015	 Quoted	 Observable	 Un-observable	 Fair value

	 prices	 inputs	 inputs	 total

Financial assets

Recognised as trading portfolio:

Bonds at fair value	 11,170	 808	 0	 11,978

Derivative financial instruments	 5	 0	 0	 5

Recognised through the fair value option:

Loans and other receivables at fair value	 0	 133,016	 0	 133,016

Recognised as available for sale:

Shares available for sale	 0	 45	 11	 55

Total	 11,175	 133,869	 11	 145,055

Financial liabilities:

Recognised as trading portfolio:

Derivative financial instruments	 8	 0	 0	 8

Recognised through the fair value option:

Issued bonds at fair value	 111,489	 18,854	 0	 130,342

Total	 111,497	 18,854	 0	 130,351

2014	 Quoted	 Observable	 Un-observable	 Fair value

	 prices	 inputs	 inputs	 total

Financial assets

Recognised as trading portfolio:

Bonds at fair value	 9,166	 0	 0	 9,166

Derivative financial instruments	 21	 11	 0	 32

Recognised through the fair value option:

Loans and other receivables at fair value	 0	 133,198	 0	 133,198

Recognised as available for sale:

Shares available for sale	 0	 58	 11	 68

Total	 9,186	 133,267	 11	 142,463

Financial liabilities:

Recognised as trading portfolio:

Derivative financial instruments	 18	 0	 0	 18

Recognised through the fair value option:

Issued bonds at fair value	 129,670	 2,850	 0	 132,520

Total	 129,688	 2,850	 0	 132,538

Quoted prices 
The Company’s assets and liabilities at fair value are to the widest extent possible recognised at quoted prices in an active market for identical  
assets and liabilities. 
 
Observable inputs 
When an instrument is not traded in an active market, measurement is based on observable inputs in generally accepted calculation models with 
observable market data.  
For bonds where no updated market price is available, a price calculated on the basis of the official market price of a corresponding bond is  
applied. For unlisted shares in sector-owned companies where reallocation of the shares take place, the reallocation is considered to constitute  
the principal market for the shares. The fair value is determined to be the reallocation price, and the shares are included in this category. 
 
Unobservable inputs 
In cases where it is not possible to measure financial instruments at fair value on prices in active markets or observable inputs, measurement is  
based on own assumptions and extrapolations, etc. To the extent possible, measurement is based on actual transactions adjusted for differences  
in e.g. the liquidity, credit spreads and maturities of the instruments, etc. The Company’s portfolio of unlisted shares in sector-companies where  
observable inputs are not immediately accessible are placed in this category.

Notes to the Financial Statements



62

Note

31

32

33

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014

Other debt and payables

Negative market value of derivative financial instruments	 8	 18	

Interest and commission payable	 1,311	 1,327

Other payables	 266	 286

Total	 1,585	 1,630

Deferred tax

Deferred tax, beginning-of-year	 2	 (2)

Change in deferred tax	 1	 4

Total	 3	 2

Land and buildings, domicile properties	 5	 5

Other tangible assets	 (1)	 (2)

Provisions for retirement	 0	 (1)

Total	 3	 2

Deferred tax is recognised as follows:

Deferred tax assets	 (1)	 (2)

Provisions for deferred tax	 5	 5

Total	 3	 2

Equity

Details on movements in equity appear from the Statement of Changes in Equity.

At 31 December 2015, the following shareholders held more than 5 pc of DLR’s share capital:

Loan-providing banks that hold shares in DLR:

Jyske Bank A/S, Silkeborg

Spar Nord Bank A/S, Aalborg

Sydbank A/S, Aabenraa

Other shareholders:

Finansiel Stabilitet A/S, Copenhagen

Nykredit Realkredit A/S, Copenhagen

PRAS A/S, Copenhagen

None of the above mentioned shareholders have controlling interest.
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Note

34

35

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014

Subordinated debt

Hybrid core capital 1)	 0	 755

Total subordinated debt	 0	 755

1) The hybrid core capital in 2014 of DKK 755m was not CRR-compliant and therefore continues to be recognised in subordinated debt. In 

2014, interest amounted to DKK 4m. The debt was repaid on 16 June 2015.

Derivative financial instruments by	 2015	 2014	

remaining term to maturity

Forwards, bought

Up to 3 months

Nominal value	 321	 72

Net market value	 0	 0

Forwards, sold

Up to 3 months

Nominal value	 4,436	 13,515

Net market value	 (3)	 (3)

Interest rate swaps

Exceeding 3 months and up to 1 year

Nominal value	 0	 744

Net market value	 0	 28

Forward contracts are entered partly in connection with the contracting of fixed-price agreements by borrowers with DLR, and partly at the 

refinancing of adjustable-rate loans in the month of January, as the auctions took place in November and December 2015, while the settle-

ment of the bonds will not be effected until 4 January 2016.
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Note

36

(DKKm)

Sensitivity to market risk	

DLR’s risks and policies appear from the section in the Management’s Review on Risk Management. DLR is influenced by different types of  

market risk.To illustrate this influence or the sensitivity to each type of market risk, the change in results and equity caused by the various risk  

scenarios have been stated below.

2015	 Change in post-tax results	 Change in equity 

Interest-rate risk on the securities portfolio

An interest-rate increase of 1 pc point	 (174)	 (174)

An interest-rate decrease of 1 pc point	 174	 174

Risk related to shares

An increase in share value of 10 pc	 4	 4

A decrease in share value of 10 pc	 (4)	 (4)

Foreign-exchange risk

An increase of 1 pc DKK/EUR	 9	 9

A decrease of 1 pc DKK/EUR	 (9)	 (9)

2014	 Change in post-tax results	 Change in equity

Interest-rate risk on the securities portfolio

An interest-rate increase of 1 pc point	 (295)	 (295)

An interest-rate decrease of 1 pc point	 295	 295

Risk related to shares

An increase in share value of 10 pc	 5	 5

A decrease in share value of 10 pc	 (5)	 (5)

Foreign-exchange risk

An increase of 1 pc DKK/EUR	 4	 4

A decrease of 1 pc DKK/EUR	 (4)	 (4)		
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Note

37

38

(DKKm)

Risk management

DLR grants loans against registered mortgages on real property in due consideration of the security position of the loans.

Mortgage credit loans and their underlying funding are regulated by the balance principle, which means that DLR has very low interest-rate,-

exchange-rate and liquidity risk in this connection. Credit risk is the most significant type of risk DLR is exposed to.

Credit, market and operational risk are all covered by holding sufficient capital, whereas liquidity risk is covered through sufficient liquidity 

resources.

Risk management responsibility lies with the Board of Directors and the Executive Board and is a central element in DLR’s daily operations. 

DLR’s internal control and risk management procedures are designed with a view to managing the relevant risk effectively.	

On an annual basis, DLR publishes a detailed report entitled Risk and Capital Management. This report contains a series of risk indicators 

in compliance with the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR). The report is not subject to auditing and may be found at dlr.dk/Financial 

Statements.

Profit and loss account	 2015	 2014	 2013	 2012	 2011

Net interest and fee income	 1,507	 1,508	 1,229	 1,049	 944

Other operating income, etc.	 18	 17	 18	 19	 18

Staff costs and administrative expenses, etc.	 (225)	 (214)	 (209)	 (205)	 (194)

Earnings	 1,299	 1,311	 1,038	 863	 769

Provision for loan and receivable impairment	 (94)	 (191)	 (113)	 (87)	 (141)

Value adjustments	 (330)	 (188)	 (296)	 (174)	 (259)

Profit before tax	 875	 933	 629	 603	 369

Profit after tax	 670	 703	 471	 451	 275

Balance sheet at 31 December

Assets

Loans and advances	 133,038	 133,219	 133,910	 135,631	 133,211

Bonds and shares, etc.	 12,033	 9,234	 8,874	 5,356	 7,669

Other assets	 3,371	 15,185	 4,110	 7,900	 14,066

Total assets	 148,442	 157,637	 146,894	 148,887	 154,946

Liabilities and equity

Issued bonds	 134,342	 141,324	 131,438	 128,423	 129,949

Other debt and payables	 1,596	 3,638	 2,395	 6,241	 11,789

Subordinated debt	 0	 755	 3,078	 5,254	 5,623

Equity	 12,503	 11,919	 9,984	 8,969	 7,586

Total liabilities and equity	 148,442	 157,637	 146,894	 148,887	 154,946

Financial ratios

Return on equity (ROE)

Profit before tax in pc of equity*)	 7.2	 8.0	 6.6	 7.3	 5.0	

Profit after tax in pc of equity*)	 5.5	 6.1	 5.0	 5.4	 3.7

Return on capital employed

Return on capital employed*)	 0.45	 0.45	 0.32	 0.30	 0.18

Costs

Costs in pc of loan portfolio	 0.16	 0.16	 0.16	 0.15	 0.15

Income/cost ratio*)	 3.75	 3.30	 2.96	 3.07	 2.10

Income/cost ratio, excl. write-downs for impairment	 5.31	 6.24	 4.56	 4.37	 3.63	

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note (DKKm)	 2015	 2014	 2013	 2012	 2011

Solvency (incl. profit for the year)

Capital ratio, pc*)	 12.9	 12.3	 12.3	 13.2	 12.2

Core capital ratio, pc*)	 12.9	 12.3	 12.3	 13.2	 12.2

Losses and arrears

Arrears, year-end (DKKm)	 122.0	 141.8	 125.4	 165.2	 142.9

Loss and impairment ratio for the period (in pc of loan portfolio)*)	 0.07	 0.14	 0.08	 0.06	 0.11	

Accumulated loss and impairment ratio (in pc of loan portfolio)	 0.44	 0.40	 0.28	 0.25	 0.26

Lending activity

Growth in loan portfolio, pc (nominal)*)	 0.6	 (0.9)	 (0.9)	 2.3	 1.1

New loans, gross (DKKm)	 23,469	 33,181	 11,340	 20,176	 12,836

Number of new loans	 8,585	 9,638	 4,887	 7,944	 4,887

Loan/equity ratio*)	 10.6	 11.2	 13.4	 15.1	 17.6

Margins

Percentage of average loan portfolio (nominal):

Profit before tax	 0.67	 0.71	 0.47	 0.44	 0.28

Administrative margin	 1.09	 1.07	 1.05	 0.93	 0.80

Percentage of core capital after deductions:

Foreign exchange position as a percentage of  

core capital after deductions*)	 9.1	 4.0	 3.1	 2.4	 12.0

*) The financial ratios have been calculated on the basis of the definitions by the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority.

Notes to the Financial Statements

38 continued



67

(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Revenue					   

DLR exclusively carries on mortgage credit activities in Denmark  

(incl. the Faroe Islands and Greenland), and therefore all revenue is  

attributable to the Kingdom of Denmark.

Revenue	 3,812	 4,049

Government grants received	 0	 0	

Capital and solvency

Equity	 12,503	 11,919

Hybrid core capital recognised in equity	 (1,300)	 (1,300)

Deductions as a consequence of prudent valuation	 (17)	 0

Deferred tax	 (1)	 (2)

Actual core capital	 11,185	 10,617	

					   

Hybrid core capital	 1,300	 1,904

Capital base	 12,485	 12,521	

					   

Risk-weighted exposure with credit risk, etc.	 91,278 	 95,237

Risk-weighted exposure with market risk	 3,505 	  4,938

Risk-weighted exposure with operational risk	 2,249 	  1,917

	

Total risk-weighted exposure	 97,032 	  102,092

					   

Actual core capital ratio	 11.5%	 10.4%

Capital ratio	 12.9%	 12.3%

Note

39

40

Solvency
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(DKKm)	 2015	 2014	

Cash flow from operating activities								      

Profit before tax	 875	 933	

Adjustments for non-cash items:					   

Depreciation on assets	 1	 4	

Value adjustments, securities	 342	 186	

Change in provisions	 59	 150	

Change in accrued interest income and receivables	 190	 (82)	

Change in accrued interest expenses and payables 	 (46)	 (34)	

Corporate income tax paid	 (160)	 (226)	

Total cash flow from operating activities	 1,262	 929	

						    

Cash flow from investing activities

Investments in assets temporarily foreclosed	 (32)	 10	

Total cash flow from investing activities	 (32)	 10	

Cash flow from financing activities	 	

Capital increase	 0	 0

Payment to owners of hybrid core capital	 (112)	 (116)

Raising of hybrid core capital	 0	 0

Redemption of government hybrid core capital (Bankink Package II)	 (755)	 0

Raising of senior secured bonds	 1,000	 0

Redemption of state-guaranteed senior debt	 (3,002)	 (1,000)	

Change in mortgage loans	 (859)	 536

Change in issued bonds	 (25,995)	 (2,400)

	

Total cash flow from financing activities	 (29,723)	 (2,979)	

					   

Cash flow for the year	 (28,493)	 (2,040)	

Cash and cash equivalents, incl. securities, beginning-of-year	 69,996	 72,223	

Market value adjustment	 (328)	 (186)	

Cash and cash equivalents, incl. securities portfolio, year-end	 41,175	 69,996	

	 					   

Note

41

Cash Flow Statement
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Pursuant to the Danish Financial Supervisory Au-
thority Executive Order no 872 of 20 November 
1995 on series financial statements in mortgage 
banks, mortgage banks are required to prepare 
separate series financial statements for series with 
series reserve funds, cf section 25(1) of the Danish 
Mortgage Credit Loans and Mortgage Credit Bonds 
etc. Act.

The Series Financial Statements have been pre-
pared on the basis of the Annual Report of DLR 
Kredit A/S for 2015.

The distribution of profit for 2015 adopted by DLR 
Kredit A/S’s Board of Directors (cf. the Annual Re-
port) has been included in the Series Financial 
Statements. The series’ calculated share of the 
profit for the year of DLR Kredit A/S determined in 
accordance with the Executive Order has been tak-
en to the general reserves of the mortgage credit 
institution.

The Series Financial Statements have been print-
ed at association level, cf. section 30(3) of the Ex-
ecutive Order.

Complete Series Financial Statements may be ob-
tained from DLR Kredit A/S.

Series Financial Statements
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(DKKm)	 B-SDO	 DLR in 	 Total

			   general

Profit and loss account

Administration and reserve fund contributions	 1,276	 164	 1,440

Front-end fees	 26	 0	 26

Interest, subordinated debt and guarantee capital	 (3)	 0	 (4)

Interest, etc.	 263	 25	 288

Value adjustment of securities and foreign exchange	 (301)	 (29)	 (330)

Administrative expenses	 (412)	 (40)	 (451)

Write-offs and provisions on loans	 (56)	 (38)	 (94)

Tax		 (186)	 (19)	 (206)

Profit	 606	 63	 670

	
	

Balance sheet

Assets

Mortgage loans	 118,912	 14,558	 133,470

Arrears, mortgage loans	 109	 13	 122

Provisions for loans and arrears	 (495)	 (90)	 (585)

Prepayments	 17	 2	 19

Other assets, incl. reserve fund loans	 39,781	 2,140	 41,921

Total assets	 158,324	 16,622	 174,946	

Liabilities and equity

Issued bonds, etc.	 141,514	 15,064	 156,577

Deferred income	 249	 26	 275

Other debt and payables	 5,255	 336	 5,590

Subordinated debt	 0	 0	 0

Equity	 11,307	 1,197	 12,503

Total liabilities and equity	 158,324	 16,622	 174,946

Addition and deduction of funds (net)	 (210)	 210	 0

	

				  

Balance sheet total in the Series Financial Statements

Balance sheet total according to DLR Kredit’s Annual Report			   148,442

Offsetting of own mortgage bonds			   26,235

Offsetting of interest receivable on own bonds, etc.			   269

Balance sheet total in DLR Kredit’s serial financial statements			   174,946		
	 	

Series Financial Statements for 2015 of DLR Kredit A/S
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Today, the Board of Directors and the Executive Board reviewed and approved the Annual Report for the 
financial year 1 January – 31 December 2015 of DLR Kredit A/S.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the Danish Financial Business Act and the ac-
counting provisions for mortgage banks laid down by the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority, as well as 
the additional disclosure requirements provided by the NASDAQ Copenhagen for annual reports of issuers 
of listed bonds. Furthermore, the Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with additional Danish 
disclosure requirements for listed financial companies.

In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, liabilities, equity 
and financial position at 31 December 2015 as well as of the results of the Company’s operations and cash 
flows for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2015.

Moreover, in our opinion, the Management’s Review includes a fair review of the matters under review as 
well as a description of significant risks and uncertainty factors that may affect the Company.

The Annual Report is recommended to the Annual General Meeting for approval.

Copenhagen, 25 February 2016

Executive Board

Jens Kr. A. Møller	 Michael Jensen	
Managing Director, CEO	 Managing Director		

Board of Directors
Vagn Hansen	 Anders Dam
Chairman	 Deputy Chairman

Claus Andreasen 	 Ole Selch Bak	 Karen Frøsig

Peter Gæmelke	 Jakob G. Hald	 Søren Jensen 

Agnete Kjærsgaard	 Lars Møller	 Torben Nielsen

Benny Pedersen 	 Jan Pedersen	 Lars Petersson

Management’s Statement on the Annual Report
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Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the Financial Statements of DLR Kredit A/S for the financial year 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2015. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Danish Financial Business 
Act. In addition, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with additional Danish disclo-
sure requirements for issuers of listed bonds.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Executive Order of the Danish Financial Supervisory Au-
thority on Auditing Financial Enterprises, etc. as well as Financial Groups and in accordance with interna-
tional auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the Financial Statements and Management’s Review are free from material misstatement.

The audit was performed observing the division of work agreed with the external auditors and included 
assessment of the business procedures and internal control established, including the risk management 
organised by Management and aimed at reporting processes and significant business risks. Based on ma-
teriality and risk, we have, by audit sampling, verified the bases for amounts and other disclosures in the 
Financial Statements and Management’s Review, including evidence supporting amounts and disclosures 
stated therein. Furthermore, the audit included an evaluation of the appropriateness of accounting policies 
applied by Management and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by Management, as 
well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the Financial Statements and Management’s Review.

We have participated in the audit of areas that are material and exposed to the highest risks, and we be-
lieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

Opinion
In our opinion, the business procedures and internal controls established, including the risk management 
organised by Management aimed at reporting processes and significant business risks, are working satis-
factorily.

Furthermore, in our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, 
liabilities, equity and financial position at 31 December 2015 and of its operations and cash flows for the 
financial year 2015 in accordance with the Danish Financial Business Act and additional Danish disclosure 
requirements for financial statements of issuers of listed bonds.

Statement on Management’s Review
Pursuant to the Danish Financial Business Act, we have read the Management’s Review. We have not 
performed any other procedures in addition to the audit of the Financial Statements. On this basis, it is our 
opinion that the information given in the Management’s Review is consistent with the Financial Statements.

Copenhagen, 25 February 2016
Internal Audit

Dennis Lundberg
Chief Internal Auditor

Internal Auditor's Report
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To the shareholders in DLR Kredit A/S

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial Statements of DLR Kredit A/S for the financial year 2015, which comprise 
profit and loss account, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, 
cash flow statement and notes, including accounting policies. The financial statements and Management’s 
review have been prepared in accordance with the Danish Financial Business Act. In addition, the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with additional Danish disclosure requirements for issuers 
of listed bonds.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in accordance 
with the Danish Financial Business Act and additional Danish disclosure requirements for issuers of listed 
bonds. Furthermore, Management is responsible for the internal control that Management determines as 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, wheth-
er due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility and basis of opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and additional requirements under Danish 
audit regulation. This requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements and Management’s review, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of accounting policies applied by Management and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, liabilities and equi-
ty, and of the financial position at 31 December 2015, as well as of the Company’s financial performance and 
cash flows for the financial year 1 January – 31 December 2015 in accordance with the Danish Financial 
Business Act and additional Danish disclosure requirements for issuers of listed bonds.

Statement on the management’s report 
Pursuant to the Danish Financial Business Act, we have read the management’s report. We have not per-
formed any further procedures in addition to the audit of the financial statements.

On this basis, it is our opinion that the information provided in the management’s report is consistent with 
the financial statements.

Copenhagen, 25 February 2016

Deloitte     33963556
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab

Henrik Wellejus	 Hans Trærup
State-Authorised	 State-Authorised
Public Accountant	 Public Accountant

	



75

Year-end 2015

A/S Møns Bank
Aktieselskabet Lollands Bank
Aktieselskabet Nordfyns Bank
Aktieselskabet Skjern Bank
Alm. Brand Bank A/S
Andelskassen Fælleskassen
Andelskassen J.A.K., Slagelse
Arbejdernes Landsbank
BankNordik
Borbjerg Sparekasse
Broager Sparekasse
Danmarks Nationalbank
Danske Andelskassers Bank A/S
Den Jyske Sparekasse
Djurslands Bank A/S
Dragsholm Sparekasse
Dronninglund Sparekasse
Fanø Sparekasse
Faster Andelskasse
Finansiel Stabilitet
Flemløse Sparekasse
Folkesparekassen
Frørup Andelskasse
Frøs Herreds Sparekasse

Frøslev-Mollerup Sparekasse
FS Finans II A/S
FS Finans III A/S
FS Finans IV A/S
Fynske Bank A/S
GrønlandsBANKEN A/S
Handelsbanken
Hvidbjerg Bank, Aktieselskab
J.A.K. Andelskasse, Østervrå
Jutlander Bank A/S
Jyske Bank A/S
Klim Sparekasse
Kreditbanken A/S
Københavns Andelskasse
Langå Sparekasse
Lån & Spar Bank A/S
Merkur Andelskasse
Middelfart Sparekasse
Nordjyske Bank A/S
Nordoya Sparikassi
Nykredit Realkredit A/S*
PRAS A/S
Ringkjøbing Landbobank,
Aktieselskab

Rise Sparekasse
Rønde Sparekasse
Salling Bank A/S
Saxo Privatbank
Spar Nord Bank A/S
Sparekassen Balling
Sparekassen Bredebro
Sparekassen Den lille Bikube
Sparekassen Djursland
Sparekassen for Nr. Nebel og
Omegn
Sparekassen Fyn A/S
Sparekassen Kronjylland
Sparekassen Sjælland A/S
Sparekassen Thy
Sparekassen Vendsyssel
Stadil Sparekasse
Sydbank A/S
Søby-Skader-Halling Sparekasse
Sønderhå-Hørsted Sparekasse
Totalbanken A/S
Vestjysk Bank A/S
Østjydsk Bank A/S

 *) Previously Nykredit Bank A/S (Forstædernes Bank A/S)

Shareholders in DLR Kredit A/S


